

Department of Physiology Medicum/Faculty of Medicine University of Helsinki

Molecular Mechanisms Involved in Altered Differentiation of Neural Progenitors in Fragile X Syndrome

Venkat Swaroop Achuta

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be publicly discussed with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Helsinki in the Lecture hall 5, Main building of the University of Helsinki, Fabianinkatu 33, on February 27th 2018, at 12 o' clock

Helsinki 2018

Supervised by	Docent Maija Castrén, MD, PhD Physiology/Faculty of Medicine University of Helsinki, Finland and Autism Foundation, Finland
Reviewed by	Docent Susanna Narkilahti, PhD BioMediTech Institute/Faculty of Medicine University of Tampere, Finland
	and
	Docent Katja Kanninen, PhD A.I. Virtanen Institute for Molecular Sciences, University of Eastern Finland, Finland
Opponent	Professor Iryna Ethell, PhD Division of Biomedical Sciences and Neuroscience Graduate Program University of California Riverside, USA
Custodian	Professor Antti Pertovaara, MD, PhD Physiology/Faculty of Medicine University of Helsinki, Finland

ISBN 978-951-51-4099-9 (paperback) ISBN 978-951-51-4100-2 (PDF) <u>http://ethesis.helsinki.fi</u> Unigrafia Oy Helsinki 2018

To my sister

Acknowledgements

Ph.D-as-a-journey is a blend of learning, personal growth, loneliness, confusion, challenges, several experiences some pleasant and some not. I take this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude to everyone who traveled with me during this process. The support you offered gave me great strength and better equipped to deal hardships.

This work was carried out at the Department of Physiology/Faculty of Medicine, University of Helsinki. I sincerely thank Academy of Finland, Arvo & Lea Ylppö Foundation, Finnish Brain Research Foundation, Finnish Medical Foundation, Foundation for Pediatric Research, Maud Kuistila Memorial foundation, Orion research foundation, and Sakari & Orvokki Sohlberg Foundation for their financial support. I am grateful to the people at the Physiology department, Biomedicum Stem Cell Center and Imaging unit for providing excellent facilities.

I express my gratitude to Docent Maija Castrén for providing me an opportunity to be a part of her research group and introducing me to the world of scientific research. I sincerely acknowledge her mentorship and knowledge sharing throughout my studies. I would like to extend my thanks to Professor Kari Keinänen, Docent Claudio Rivera, and Professor Karl Åkerman for the fruitful collaboration and valuable scientific inputs provided during my work.

I thank Professor Iryna Ethell for kindly accepting the invitation to serve as an opponent for my thesis defence.

I would like to acknowledge Docent Susanna Narkilahti and Docent Katja Kanninen for their critical comments and suggestions in the pre-review process of my thesis. Also, my thesis committee members, Professor Dan Lindholm and Docent Tarja Stenberg for their support over the years.

I am glad to have a perfect bunch of colleagues, who created a positive working environment. I am grateful to Lauri Louhivuori for teaching me a great deal of learning new things during my doctoral research. He is a good friend, colleague, and mentor who always inspired and motivated me. I warmly thank Veronika & Heli for helping during my early steps as a researcher. Ulla & Giorgio thanks for being supportive friends on and off the field. It has been a wonderful experience working with you all.

Special thanks to all co-authors for their contributions, particularly Tommi for his valuable addition to the last manuscript. Thanks to all co-workers from other groups for their useful conversations and hangouts especially Jarno, Kirsi, Carina, Johanna, Kristiina, Tommy, and Sebnem. I also appreciate the assistance of Anne, Katri, Malla, and Paivi in all administrative matters.

"FRENDZ MAKE THE BAD TIMES GOOD AND GOOD TIMES UNFORGETTABLE" (kudos google). I would like to thank all my friends for standing by me and providing me a life beyond work. I will never forget the intense discussions over a drink, chatting over phones, pointless arguments, late-night long rides and funny incidents that happened over the years. Thanks to Chakri, Raju, Meharji, Karthik, Kartiek, Deepthi, Venkat, Sruthi, Pradeep, Vasu, Zahid, Aniketh, Hari, Priyanka, Nirusha, Agasteswar, Swetha, Ratnam, Arunakar, Ashok, Vijay, Sreekanth, and Vinay. My journey wouldn't have been possible without your support and thanks again for leaving so many memories in my life.

Finally, I want to express my love and deepest gratitude to my family members Annaya, Vadina, Bava, Akka, and Sushu. Thanks for the hilarious times & laughs we shared together and mutual support during the dark days. One thing that ever makes me happy is the innocent smiles of Cherry and Akshu (nieces). Thanks to grandma for feeding me with lots of food and love since my childhood. I wholeheartedly thank my parents to whom I owe everything. Everything you taught and provided me since I was a kid translated into all that I earned today. You all made my life easier and always been supportive during the years of time that I spent away from home. Your love has been and will be important to me. THANKS A MILLION.

Helsinki, February 2018

Swaroop

Table of Contents

1.	List of original publications	1
2.	Abbreviations	2
3.	Abstract	6
4.	Introduction	7
5.	Review of the literature	8
4	5.1 Stem cells	8
4	5.2 Neural stem/progenitor cells	8
4	5.3 Cortical neurogenesis	9
4	5.4 Modeling neural differentiation	12
4	5.5 Basis of calcium signaling	13
	5.5.1 Calcium ion	13
	5.5.2 Neuronal Ca ²⁺ influx toolkit	14
4	5.6 Glutamate	15
	5.6.1 Glutamate receptors	16
	5.6.1.1 Metabotropic receptors	16
	5.6.1.2 Ionotropic receptors	17
	5.6.2 Role of glutamate receptors in NPC regulation	19
4	5.7 Tissue plasminogen activator	20
4	5.8 Micro RNA	21
4	5.9 Fragile X Syndrome	22
	5.9.1 Identification of FXS	23
	5.9.2 FMRP	23
	5.9.3 Fmr1-KO mouse model	24
	5.9.4 FMRP and glutamatergic signaling	25
	5.9.5 FMRP and neural progenitors	27
6.	Aims of the study	33
7.	Materials and Methods	34
	7.1 Mouse model (<i>I-III</i>)	34
	7.1.1 Fmr1-knockout mice	34
	7.1.2 Brain tissue	34

7.1.3 Generation and culturing of neural progenitors	35
7.2 Human model (II,III)	36
7.2.1 FXS induced pluripotent stem cells	36
7.2.2 Generation and culturing of neural progenitors	36
7.3 Neurosphere differentiation (<i>I-III</i>)	37
7.4 Calcium Imaging (<i>I-III</i>)	37
7.5 Time-lapse live imaging (<i>I,II</i>)	38
7.6 Immunostaining (<i>I-III</i>)	39
7.6.1 Immunohistochemistry	39
7.6.2 Immunocytochemistry	39
7.7 Quantitative PCR (<i>II,III</i>)	41
7.8 Western Blotting (II)	42
7.9 Patch clamp recordings (III)	43
7.10 Transcriptional profiling (III)	43
7.11 Statistical analysis (<i>I-III</i>)	44
7.12 Experimental setup	44
8. Results	45
8.1 Tissue plasminogen activator contributes to alterations of neuronal migration and activity- dependent responses in fragile X mice (I)	45
8.1.1 tPA expression in NPCs and in brain of Fmr1-KO mice	45
8.1.2 Effects of tPA on migration and intracellular calcium responses to depolarization in mouse NPCs lacking FMRP	45
8.2 Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 responses dictate differentiation of neural progenitors to NMDA-responsive cells in Fragile X syndrome (II)	46
8.2.1 Functional characterization of glutamate-responsive NPCs and MPEP effects on mouse FMRP- deficient cells	46
8.2.2 Effects of MPEP on motility and morphology of differentiating NPCs, and on cortical neurogenes Fmr1-KO mice	<i>is of</i> 48
8.2.3 Functional characterization of human iPSC-derived NPCs, and MPEP effects on FXS glutamate- responsive cell populations	49
8.3 Functional changes of AMPA responses in human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neural progenitors in fragile X syndrome (III)	50
8.3.1 Mechanisms involved in altered differentiation of CP-AMPAR expressing human FXS NPCs	50
8.3.2 Mechanisms involved in altered differentiation of CP-AMPAR expressing mouse Fmr1-KO NPCs	52

9.	Discussion	54
9	9.1 Altered differentiation of FMRP-deficient neural progenitors	54
9	9.2 Aberrant neural migration and neurite outgrowth in FXS	58
9	9.3 tPA-mediated effects on <i>Fmr1</i> -KO neural progenitors	59
9	9.4 mGluR5-mediated effects on FMRP-deficient neural progenitors	59
10.	Concluding Remarks	63
11.	References	64

1. List of original publications

This thesis is based on the following original publications, which are referred in the text by their roman numerals I-III:

- I. Achuta VS, Rezov V, Uutela M, Louhivuori V, Louhivuori L, Castrén ML (2014). Tissue plasminogen activator contributes to alterations of neuronal migration and activity-dependent responses in fragile X mice. J. Neurosci. 34, 1916-1923.
- II. Achuta VS, Grym H, Putkonen N, Louhivuori V, Kärkkäinen V, Koistinaho J, Roybon L, Castrén ML (2017). Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 responses dictate differentiation of neural progenitors to NMDA-responsive cells in fragile X syndrome. *Dev. Neurobiol.* 77, 438-453.
- III. Achuta VS, Möykkynen T, Peteri UK, Turconi G, Rivera C, Keinänen K, Castrén ML (2018). Functional changes of AMPA responses in human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neural progenitors in fragile X syndrome. *Sci. Signal. 11, eaan8784*.

The original articles are reproduced with the kind permission of their copyright holders.

Author contributions

- I. The candidate maintained mouse neural progenitor cultures; performed calcium imaging and time-lapse live imaging experiments; and participated in data analysis.
- II. The candidate generated and maintained human and mouse neural progenitor cultures; performed calcium imaging, immunostainings, western blotting and time-lapse live imaging experiments; and participated in data analysis, prepared tables, and figures and wrote the manuscript together with the supervisor.
- III. The candidate generated and maintained human and mouse neural progenitor cultures; performed calcium imaging, immunostainings, quantitative PCR experiments and collected samples for transcriptome analysis; and participated in data analysis, prepared tables, and figures and wrote the manuscript together with the supervisor.

2. Abbreviations

ADAR2	adenosine deaminase acting on RNA 2		
aIP	apical intermediate progenitor		
AMPA	alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid		
AMPAR	AMPA receptor		
APP	amyloid precursor protein		
Arc	activity-regulated cytoskeleton-associated protein		
aRG	apical radial glia		
ASD	autism spectrum disorder		
BDNF	brain-derived neurotropic factor		
bFGF	basic fibroblast growth factor		
bIP	basal intermediate progenitor		
BLBP	brain lipid binding protein		
BrdU	5-bromo-2-deoxyuridine		
bRG	basal radial glia		
BSA	bovine serum albumin		
Ca ²⁺	calcium		
$[Ca^{2+}]_i$	intracellular calcium		
CaMKII	Ca ²⁺ /calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II		
CNS	central nervous system		
CP-AMPAR	calcium-permeable AMPAR		
DAG	diacylglycerol		
DAPI	4',6-Diamidino-2-Phenylindole		
DCX	doublecortin		
DG	dentate gyrus		
DHPG	(S)-3,5-dihydroxyphenylglycine		
DMEM/F-12	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium nutrient mixture F-12		
E14	embryonic day 14		
E17	embryonic day 17		
EBSS	Earl's balanced salt solution		
EGF	epidermal growth factor		

ER	endoplasmic reticulum			
ESCs	embryonic stem cells			
FMR1	fragile X mental retardation 1			
Fmr1-KO	Fmr1-knockout			
FMRP	FMR1 protein			
FXPOI	fragile X-associated primary ovarian insufficiency			
FXS	fragile X syndrome			
FXTAS	fragile X-associated tremor/ataxia syndrome			
GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid			
GFAP	glial fibrillary acidic protein			
GLAST	glial glutamate-aspartate transporter			
HBSS	Hank's balanced salt solution			
hESCs	human embryonic stem cells			
hiPSCs	human induced pluripotent stem cells			
ID	intellectual disability			
INM	interkinetic nuclear migration			
iGluR	ionotropic glutamate receptor			
IP ₃	inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate			
IP ₃ Rs	inositol triphosphate receptors			
iPSCs	induced pluripotent stem cells			
IP	intermediate progenitor			
KA	kainic acid			
$[K^+]_e$	extracellular potassium			
LRP	low-density lipoprotein			
LTD	long-term depression			
MAP1B	microtubule-associated protein 1B			
MAP2	microtubule-associated protein 2			
mGluR	metabotropic glutamate receptor			
miRNAs	MicroRNAs			
MPEP	2-methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)-pyridine			
MZ	marginal zone			

Naspm	naspm trihydrochloride		
NBQX	dioxo-6-nitro-1,2,3,4-tetrahydrobenzo[f]quinoxaline-7-sulfonamide		
NECs	neuroepithelial cells		
NGS	normal goat serum		
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate		
NMDAR	NMDA receptor		
NPCs	neural progenitor cells		
O/N	overnight		
oSVZ	outer subventricular zone		
PBS	phosphate buffered saline		
P7	postnatal day 7		
PA1-1	plasminogen activator inhibitor		
i.p.	Intraperitoneal		
PFA	paraformaldehyde		
PhTx	philanthotoxin		
PPI	prepulse inhibition		
PSCs	pluripotent stem cells		
REST	RE1 silencing transcription factor		
RG	radial glia		
ROCs	receptor-operated channels		
RT	room temperature		
$R_y R_s$	ryanodine receptors		
SGZ	subgranular zone		
SNS	synaptoneurosomes		
SOCEs	store-operated calcium entry channels		
STEP	striatal-enriched protein tyrosine phosphatase		
SVZ	subventricular zone		
Tbr2	t-box transcription factor 2		
tPA	tissue plasminogen activator		
TRPC	transient receptor potential type C		
Tuj1	anti-β-III-tubulin		

VGCCs	voltage-gated calcium channels		
vRG	ventricular radial glia		
VZ	ventricular zone		
WT	wild-type		

3. Abstract

Fragile X syndrome (FXS) is the most common cause of genetically acquired intellectual disability and is strongly associated with autism spectrum disorders. FXS is an X-linked neurodevelopmental disorder, with an incidence of approximately 1 in 5000 males and 1 in 8000 females. It is primarily caused by a trinucleotide repeat expansion in the Fragile X mental retardation 1 (FMR1) gene leading to epigenetic silencing and loss of FMR1 protein (FMRP). Studies using *Fmr1*-knockout (*Fmr1*-KO) mice, modelling FXS, revealed that alterations in glutamatergic signaling play a central role in the aberrances of developmental processes in FXS brain. Tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) is a serine protease that potentiates signaling mediated by glutamate receptors. This thesis explored the effects of tPA and glutamate receptor signaling during early differentiation of FXS neural progenitor cells (NPCs). The differentiation of human and mouse FXS NPCs was characterized using calcium imaging, live cell imaging and immunostaining. Expression of tPA was increased in NPCs and brain of *Fmr1*-KO mice. The increased tPA was involved in altered neuronal migration and activity-dependent changes in FMRPdeficient mouse NPCs. NPCs were functionally characterized based on their responses to activation of type 1 metabotropic and ionotropic glutamate receptors. Increased differentiation of subpopulations of glutamate-responsive cells was observed in FXS NPCs. Treatment with 2-methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)pyridine (MPEP), rescued abnormal differentiation of glutamate-responsive cells in both human and mouse FXS NPCs. In addition, MPEP treatment corrected morphological defects and migration of Fmr1-KO cells. Finally, an increased differentiation was evident for cells expressing calcium-permeable alphaamino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid (AMPA) receptors in FXS NPCs and reduced GluA2 expression resulted in increased calcium permeability of AMPA receptors. In summary, this study provides insight into the molecular mechanisms involved in early aberrant differentiation of FXS neuronal cells and will pave the way to develop new therapeutic approaches and biomarkers for FXS.

4. Introduction

The use of neural stem/progenitor cells (NPCs) has created novel possibilities for studies of brain development and disease mechanisms underlying disorders of the central nervous system (CNS). Many signaling pathways are involved in the regulation of stem cell proliferation and differentiation (I), making stem cell-based assays valuable for investigation of the developmental mechanisms. Furthermore, the remarkable discovery of reprogramming technologies provides an opportunity for the derivation of induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) with patient-specific properties (2-5). The iPSCs can be used to model disorders (6-8) to improve understanding of disease pathophysiology and to develop targeted therapies. In this thesis, human iPSC (hiPSC)-derived and mouse brain-derived NPCs were used to model fragile X syndrome (FXS), which is the most common inherited cause of intellectual disability (ID) and a variant autism (9, 10). FXS is caused by a triplet CGG repeat expansion mutation in the Fragile X mental retardation 1 (FMR1) gene leading to the absence of FMR1 protein (FMRP) (11, 12). FMRP regulates translation of many mRNAs essential for maturation and function of synapses and neuronal networks (13). Exaggerated responses to metabotropic glutamate receptor (mGluR) activation and increased local protein synthesis at synapses (14, 15) are associated with the excitatory and inhibitory imbalance in FXS brain (16, 17). The role of FMRP in early brain development is poorly understood, as most studies on FXS are focused on mature neurons. Indeed, FMRP is highly expressed in NPCs (18-20), and the early onset of FMR1 gene expression in the human fetal brain (18) indicates a crucial role for FMRP during early neuronal network formation. Previous studies have shown that the absence of FMRP results in abnormal differentiation and altered fate determination of FXS NPCs (21-25). In this context, this thesis contributes to broadening the understanding of glutamate signaling mediated effects on the early differentiation of NPCs lacking FMRP.

5. Review of the literature

5.1 Stem cells

Stem cells are characterized by their self-renewal (proliferation) ability and plasticity (differentiation). Their self-renewal ability preserves their undifferentiated state, even after numerous cycles of cell division. "Plasticity" refers to the capacity of cells to adapt their genetic expression profile and differentiate towards specific cell phenotypes. Stem cells divide asymmetrically to give rise to two cells: one identical to the mother cell that maintains the pool of stem cells; and the second undergoing differentiation, eventually becoming a specialized cell. Stem cell potency can be divided into totipotent, pluripotent, and multipotent. Totipotent stem cells derive from fertilized eggs or morula cells in early-stage embryos, and can differentiate into all cell types of the three germ layers, including placental cells (26). Pluripotent stem cells (PSCs) are isolated from the inner cell mass of a blastocyst (27) and have the capacity to differentiate into all cell types, except placental cells (26, 27). PSCs can also be induced from adult somatic cells by transduction of pluripotency-inducing genes (2-5). Multipotent stem cells are isolated from fetus or adults and they can differentiate into limited cell types restricted to same/closely-related tissues of origin (28).

5.2 Neural stem/progenitor cells

NPCs are multipotent stem cells derived from developing or adult mammalian CNS (29). Interest in NPCs soared when newly generated neurons were first identified in the dentate gyrus (DG) (30) and the subventricular zone (SVZ) of the lateral ventricles in the adult brain (31, 32). NPCs located in these neurogenic zones continue to produce neurons throughout life (30-32). In the prenatal period, neurogenesis exists throughout the brain (33, 34). In adulthood, NPCs are located in the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the DG in the hippocampus (30, 35) and the SVZ of the lateral ventricles (31, 32, 36). Thousands of new cells are generated every day, but the exact number varies with age (37). For example,

approximately 17,000 new cells are produced each day in the DG of peri-pubescent rats and approximately 9,000 new cells are produced each day in the DG of young adult rats (*38*). Inhibition of adult neurogenesis in rats and mice has been shown to alter their behavior and affect learning and memory (*39, 40*). Thus, not surprisingly, aberrant neurogenesis is implicated in several neurological disorders, including epilepsy (*41*), Alzheimer's disease (*42*), Parkinson's disease (*43*), and FXS (*44, 45*), highlighting the importance of NPC regulation. NPCs can self-renew and differentiate into committed neural cell types of the CNS, such as neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes. NPCs can be cultured *in vitro* in an undifferentiated state in the presence of epidermal growth factor (EGF) and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) (*36, 46, 47*).

5.3 Cortical neurogenesis

The mammalian neocortex is a well-organized cellular architecture formed by the production and positioning of diverse neuronal populations. It controls nearly all aspects of behavior, including language, perception, and decision-making. The human neocortex contains an immense number of neurons— approximately 16 billion (48). Cortical neurons can be divided into two major groups: glutamatergic excitatory neurons, and γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA)-ergic inhibitory interneurons. There are approximately five times more glutamatergic neurons than GABAergic neurons (49), which are supported by glial cells and blood vessels. During embryonic stages, the appropriate production and positioning of excitatory and inhibitory neurons define the proper function of the neocortex.

During early cortical neurogenesis (figure 1), a monolayer of homogenous neuroepithelial cells (NECs) lines the ventricular cavity. NECs constitute the neural tube and are the precursors of all future neurons in the CNS, including neocortical neurons (*50*). NECs undergo symmetric division to produce two

daughter NECs at each division, thereby expanding the thickness and surface area of the cerebral wall forming the VZ. Most NECs are multipotent progenitor cells capable of transforming into apical radial glial (aRG) cells and generating the first group of neurons in the neocortex (*51*). aRG cells are defined by their characteristic bipolar morphology and by the initiation of the expression of astroglial markers, such as glutamate-aspartate transporter (GLAST), brain lipid binding protein (BLBP), and glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) (*52-54*). The bipolar aRG cells stretch between the pial and VZ surface, with a long basal process pointing towards the pial surface and the short apical endfoot reaching the VZ surface (*55, 56*). At the early stages of neurogenesis, aRG cells divide symmetrically to produce two daughter cells at each division (*57, 58*). As neurogenesis progresses, they predominately undergo asymmetric divisions to self-renew and to produce a post-mitotic neuron, a basal progenitor termed as intermediate progenitor (IP) cell (*59, 60*), or an outer subventricular zone (oSVZ) progenitor termed as basal RG (bRG) (*61*).



Figure 1: Cortical neurogenesis in human neocortex. During early development, neuroepithelial cells (NECs) generate additional NECs or give rise to the first group of neurons. As neurogenesis progresses, NECs elongate and transit to apical radial glial cells (aRGs). aRGCs expand the progenitor pool or

generate neurons directly or indirectly via intermediate progenitor cells (IPs), IPs further generate neurons. Apical intermediate progenitors (aIPs), progeny of aRGCs that are also known as short neural precursors, divide predominately symmetrically and produce two postmitotic neurons. Basal RG cells (bRGs) likely originate from apical RG cells (aRGs) through oblique division, which generates neurons outside the ventricular zone (VZ). aIPs, apical intermediate progenitors; aRGs, apical radial glial cells; bRGs, basal RG cells; CP, cortical plate; IPs, intermediate progenitor cells; IZ, intermediate zone; MZ, marginal zone; NECs, neuroepithelial cells; oSVZ, outer subventricular zone; SVZ, subventricular zone; VZ, ventricular zone. (Figure prepared by Peteri UK and Achuta VS).

Basal progenitors form the second proliferative zone, the SVZ. In the SVZ, basal IP (bIP) cells undergo symmetric divisions and produce either two postmitotic neurons (60, 62, 63) or a pair of bIP cells, which can subsequently generate a pair of neurons (60, 63). The bIP cells can be distinguished from aRG cells by their expression of transcription factors such as t-box transcription factor 2 (Tbr2), or cut like homeobox 1 and 2 (64, 65). The majority of the VZ progenitors possess a long process extending towards the basal pial surface with a growth cone at their tips. However, a small subpopulation of VZ progenitors has been identified to have either a short basal process or no basal process. These apical IP (aIP) cells were previously termed as short neural precursors (66). They are molecularly distinct and display different cycle kinetics compared to RG cells (66). aIPs can directly give rise to postmitotic neurons within the VZ (67). Recently, distinct self-renewing bRG population of bRG progenitors is also identified in the SVZ of the mouse neocortex (61, 70). Unlike aRG cells, bRG cells possess only a basal process pointing towards the pial surface (68). In humans, only a small proportion of bRG cells divide into IP cells, whereas the vast majority of bRG cells self-renew of 68). Therefore, the generation of neurons in the human neocortex is significantly increased by self-renewal of bRG cells (71). Production of

secondary NPCs is termed as "transit amplification", and appears to be a defining feature in humans that might have contributed to the evolutionary expansion of the neocortex (72).

The cortical plate develops between the deep subplate and the superficial marginal zone (MZ). It is a sixlayered structure formed by the neurons migrating out of the proliferative zones (73). The MZ develops into the future layer I and the migrating neurons arriving at the cortical plate form layers II-VI of the cortex in an inside-out manner. Thus, the newborn neurons migrate past the earlier-born neurons. The intermediate zone separates the cortical plate and SVZ. It exists only during corticogenesis and contains the myelinated afferent and efferent axons of the cortex in the mature brain (74).

5.4 Modeling neural differentiation

The neurosphere assay has been a valuable tool for studying NPC proliferation and differentiation as well as neural development *in vitro*. Neurospheres are heterogeneous, consisting of multipotent stem cells and restricted progenitor cells with different proliferative, self-renewal, and differentiation capacities (*75*). NPCs isolated from the lateral ventricles of embryonic mouse brain form a non-adherent spherical cluster of cells termed as "neurospheres" in the presence of EGF and bFGF (*36, 46, 47*). Upon removal of growth factors, the neurospheres adhere to the substrate and cells start to migrate out. Cells migrating out of the neurosphere cluster initially display GLAST-positive RG morphology with thick processes followed by maturing neuron-like cells with thin, lengthy processes that show immunoreactivity to makers of immature neurons (*76, 77*). Eventually, the cells migrating further away from the neurosphere cluster will become mature neurons. An identical behavior of differentiating cells has been reported with human fetal-derived neurosphere cultures (*78*). In addition to RG and neuron-like cells, astrocytes and preoligodendrocytes are also identified in the culture system but to a lesser extent. Similarly, neurospheres

glia (79). The hESCs cultured in neural induction and proliferation medium in the presence of bFGF for 42 days showed a temporal increase in expression for neuroectoderm markers (79), thus confirming the differentiation to neuroectodermal lineage. During differentiation, the majority of the migrating adherent populations displayed GFAP-positive RG morphology, MAP2-positive neuron-like morphology and very few astrocyte-like morphology (79). Also, the majority of the neurons showed immunopositivity to glutamate and few to GABA (79). The human FGF-responsive neurospheres are shown to expand slower after an extended period (50-60 days) of culturing (80); conversely, neurospheres cultured in a combination of EGF and FGF have longer proliferation capacity (34). Similar to any other culture system, neurosphere model has its limitations. Multiple factors like cell plating density, culture medium, the concentration of growth factors (can differentiate towards different lineages), the method of passaging (enzymatic or manual) and high passage number (loss of neurogenic potential) affect the proliferation and differentiation of NPCs (75). Notably, the NPCs generated from mouse cortex develop in similarly as they do *in vivo (81)*. Thus, the neurosphere model can be considered as a model containing different progenitor populations to study neural development *in vitro*.

5.5 Basis of calcium signaling

5.5.1 Calcium ion

Calcium ion (Ca²⁺) is termed as a universal second messenger that regulates many functions in the eukaryotic cell. In the course of evolution, Ca²⁺ ion has been chosen to act as an important universal carrier because of its high affinity to interact with biological molecules. It controls almost all aspects of cell life, starting from fertilization to terminal programmed cell death (*82, 83*). Various buffer and sensor proteins regulate the Ca²⁺ signal, the former by maintaining the intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration ([Ca²⁺]_i) and the latter by activating distinct protein targets (*82, 84*). In resting conditions, Ca²⁺ concentration (1-2 mM) outside the cell is 10,000-20,000 times higher than [Ca²⁺]_i concentration (100 nM). The steep

concentration gradient maintained between the extracellular space and the cell interior is due to highly conserved transporters and the existence of several intracellular compartments (85, 86). Using the steep concentration gradient, Ca²⁺ controls a broad range of cellular functions, such as differentiation of specific cell types, muscle contraction, on and off mechanisms in cardiac cells, neuronal migration, and many other physiological functions (82, 83, 85). Unlike other secondary messengers, Ca²⁺ signals exhibit unique properties, i.e., programmed cell death and autoregulation at both pre- and post-transcriptional levels (83, 87). These diverse functions make Ca²⁺ ions important messengers and understanding the role of Ca²⁺ in cell function, and dysfunction, is vital.

5.5.2 Neuronal Ca²⁺ influx toolkit

 Ca^{2+} signal controls numerous neuronal functions, including excitability, exocytosis of neurotransmitters, synaptic plasticity, and gene transcription (*86*, *88*). Like many other cell types, neurons use both intracellular and extracellular Ca^{2+} for signal transduction. Ca^{2+} influx is primarily mediated by voltage-gated calcium channels (VGCCs), receptor-operated channels (ROCs), store-operated calcium entry channels (SOCEs), and transient receptor potential type C (TRPC) channels (*82*, *85*). VGCCs are activated in response to voltage changes across cell-surface membrane, ROCs are activated upon binding a neurotransmitter to the receptor and SOCEs are activated in response to the release of Ca^{2+} from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and store depletion. In addition to Ca^{2+} entry from extracellular space, inositol triphosphate receptors (IP₃Rs) and ryanodine receptors (RyRs) mediate Ca^{2+} release from internal stores (*82*, *88*). The IP₃-mediated Ca^{2+} release is trigged by neurotransmitters such as glutamate, whereas RyRs can be activated by changes in the cytosolic Ca^{2+} concentration.

5.6 Glutamate

Glutamate is considered to be a principal mediator of signal transmission at excitatory synapses in the CNS. It controls many aspects of mammalian brain function, such as cognition, memory, and learning (89, 90). Glutamate acts post-synaptically through ionotropic glutamate receptors (iGluRs), which are subdivided into *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA), α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid (AMPA), kainate receptors, and mGluRs, as shown in table 1. In addition to its role at the synapse, glutamate regulates cell survival, proliferation, differentiation, and migration of cells during early neural development (91-93). Glutamate receptor activation causes changes in [Ca²⁺]_i concentration in the postsynaptic cell, thereby triggering various signaling cascades.

	Types	Subtypes	Subunits	Signal	Transmission
	Ionotropic glutamate receptors (ligand-gated)		NR1		
		NMDA	NR2A-D	Ca²⁺, Na⁺	
			NR3A-B		fast excitatory
		AMPA	GluA1-4	Na⁺, Ca²⁺	
		Kainate	GluK1-5		
Glutamate	Metabotropic glutamate receptors (G protein-coupled)	Group I	mGluR1	Gॣ, PLC; IP₃/DAG	slow excitatory
receptors			mGluR5		
		Group II	mGluR2	G _i ; cAMP	slow inhibitory
			mGluR3		
		Group III	mGluR4	G/G _。 ; cAMP	
			mGluR6		
			mGluR7		
			mGluR8		

Table 1: Glutamate receptors, their subunit compositions, and signal transmission.

AMPA, α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid; cAMP, cyclic adenosine monophosphate; DAG, diacylglycerol; IP₃, inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate; NMDA, *N*-methyl-D-aspartate; PLC, phospholipase C.

5.6.1 Glutamate receptors

5.6.1.1 Metabotropic receptors

The mGluRs are seven-transmembrane G protein-coupled glutamate receptors that are found both pre-, post-synaptically on neurons, and glial cells. The glutamate-binding site of mGluRs is present within a large extracellular N-terminal domain (94). Upon agonist binding, signal transduction is triggered by a conformational change and altering downstream signaling pathways (94, 95). The intracellular Cterminal domain has been shown to mediate interactions with other proteins (96). Unlike iGluRs, mGluRs mediate slow excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmissions. The mGluR family can be divided into three groups (Group I-III) based on their amino-acid homology, agonist binding, and activated downstream secondary signaling cascades (97-99). Neuronal group I mGluRs (mGluR1 and mGluR5) are generally localized to the periphery of post-synaptic density (100, 101). Group II mGluRs (mGluR2 and mGluR3) are located extrasynaptically and involved in inhibition of neurotransmission (101, 102). Group III mGluRs (mGluR4, mGluR6, mGluR7, and mGluR8) are predominately located at the presynaptic active zone and function as inhibitory autoreceptors (103, 104). When activated, the group I mGluRs couple through Gq/G_{11} and stimulate phospholipase C leading to the subsequent generation of inositol 1,4,5trisphosphate (IP3) and diacylglycerol (DAG) (98, 99, 105). Both IP3 and DAG act as second messengers, the former by releasing calcium from intracellular stores that in turn controls various cellular process and the latter by activating protein kinase C that in turn enables many proteins by phosphorylation (98, 99, 105). Group II and III mGluRs are coupled to inhibitory G-proteins ($G_{i/o}$) that inhibit adenylyl cyclase/protein kinase pathway leading to a decrease in intracellular adenosine monophosphate and resulting in altered gene expression, inhibition of voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels, and activation of K⁺ channels (98, 99, 105).

5.6.1.2 Ionotropic receptors

AMPA receptors (AMPARs) are widely expressed in the CNS and are known to mediate fast excitatory neurotransmission (106). In the presence of glutamate, AMPARs mediate entry of Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ into the cell. AMPARs are functional tetrameters formed by GluA1-4 subunits (89, 98, 107). The combination of subunits confers the properties of AMPARs, such as Ca²⁺ permeability, desensitization kinetics, and channel conductance (89, 97, 99). The subunits of AMPARs are encoded by separate genes Grial-4. Further complexity is introduced by alternative splicing to two forms of each subunit, known as "flip" and "flop" forms (108). During development, the "flip" variant is highly expressed, whereas both variants are equally expressed in the mature brain. In the CNS, most of the AMPAR complexes contain GluA1 and GluA2 subunits. The presence of the GluA2 subunit and its RNA editing determine Ca^{2+} -ion permeability of the AMPARs (109-111). Edited GluA2 subunit forms Ca²⁺-impermeable channels, whereas unedited GluA2 channels are permeable to Ca^{2+} flow. The GluA2 subunit contains four membrane domains (M1-M4), and the glutamine/arginine (Q/R)-editing site is located on M2 domain. The Q/R-editing of Gria2 pre-messenger RNA by adenosine deaminase acting on RNA 2 (ADAR2) enzyme renders AMPARs impermeable to $Ca^{2+}(109-111)$. The Q/R-editing is almost 100% in the adult CNS and is necessary for survival (112). Higuchi et al. showed that ADAR2 knockout mice displayed altered AMPAR channel properties, including receptor desensitization and increased Ca^{2+} permeability, leading to seizures and premature death of the mice (112). AMPARs are assembled in ER and are transported to the plasma membrane. A significant proportion of edited GluA2 remains in the ER before been transported to the synapse (113). The exocytosis and endocytosis of AMPARs at synapses is a highly dynamic process. Increased rate of endocytosis results in long-term depression (LTD), whereas enhanced receptor exocytosis leads to synaptic potentiation (114, 115).

Kainate receptors are composed of two related sub-families, GluK1-3 formerly known as GuR5-7 and GluK4-5 formerly known as KA1-2 (*97, 107, 116*). Kainate receptors are widely expressed at both the pre- and post-synaptic membrane of the CNS (*89, 117*). They likely form heteromeric assemblies with one or more members of both sub-families. The GluK1-3 subunits can also form homomeric tetramers, whereas GluK4-5 requires GluK1, GluK2, or GluK3 to form functional heteromeric assemblies (*89, 98, 118*). In addition, GluK1-3 subunits undergo alternative splicing and RNA editing thereby increasing the subunit variants and complexity (*89, 98, 118*). Compared to AMPARs, kainate receptors are fast acting, bind with a higher affinity, and recover from desensitization slowly (*119*).

NMDA receptors (NMDARs) are a major type of ionotropic receptors, which are highly permeable to Ca^{2+} and also to Na⁺. The NMDAR family contains seven subunits NR1, NR2A-D, and NRA-B that are encoded by separate genes (*97, 107, 120*). The NR1 subunit encodes three alternatively spliced exons resulting in eight functional splice variants with different properties and distribution. For functional NMDARs, a compulsory NR1 subunit must be present in two copies in the receptor complex (*120*), along with other subunits. Glutamate binds to the NR2 subunit (*121*). Glycine is a co-transmitter that binds to the NR1 subunit and promotes the function of the receptor (*122*). Binding of both glycine and glutamate in two copies is necessary for the optimal functioning of NMDAR. The activation of NMDAR is voltage-dependent and mediated by AMPA/kainate receptor activation. In normal resting conditions, extracellular Mg²⁺ blocks most NMDARs. The activation of AMPA/kainate receptors results in the Ca²⁺ influx into the cell leading to removal of the internal Mg²⁺ and thereby allowing more Ca²⁺ into the cell. The entry of Ca²⁺ triggers both Ca²⁺-dependent and Ca²⁺-independent mechanisms, which regulate AMPARs at the synaptic membrane, synaptic strength, and gene expression (*89, 99, 123*).

5.6.2 Role of glutamate receptors in NPC regulation

Glutamate is proposed to regulate neurogenesis directly through mGluRs or iGluRs expressed by the NPCs (90, 124). The AMPA/kainate receptors are the first iGluRs to appear during embryonic development and are expressed throughout the adult CNS (110, 125). NMDARs are also highly expressed in both developing and adult brain (120, 126, 127). However, they become functional at later stages compared to AMPA/kainate receptors (126). There is evidence that they exhibit Ca^{2+} responses and depolarizing currents when the NPCs have differentiated into postmitotic neurons (126, 127). NMDAR activation is important for neuronal migration and neurite extension/retraction (127, 128). In mouse embryonic (E13-E18) cortical slice cultures, cell migration from proliferative zones (VZ/SVZ) towards CP is shown to be promoted by NMDARs and mGluRs, but not by AMPA/kainate receptors (127). Preventing NMDAR function partially blocks the glutamate-mediated migratory effect (127), indicating the involvement of NMDARs in migration. In embryonic mouse NPCs cultures, a subpopulation of cells responsive to NMDAR also responded to GABA receptor activation and exhibited enhanced migration in the presence of BDNF (129). The majority of cells in mouse NPCs cultures do express mGluRs and AMPA/kainate receptors (76, 77, 129). Blocking the AMPA/kainate receptor function by 6-Cyano-7-nitroquinoxaline-2,3-dione (CNQX) in vitro reduced the motility of NPCs (76). Also, blocking AMPAR function has been shown to regulate the extension of neurite processes in human fetal NPCs and human neuroblastoma cell line (130).

All mGluRs, apart from mGluR6, are expressed in NPCs and/or neuronal cells in both embryonic and adult brain (*105, 131*). Several studies have reported the involvement of mGluR5 in the regulation of cell proliferation, survival, and migration (*76, 131-134*). Blocking mGluR5 function with 2 -methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)-pyridine (MPEP) reduces cell proliferation and increases cell death in rat embryonic (E20) forebrain NPCs (*132, 133*), and a similar adverse effect of MPEP has been shown in the SVZ of

intact adult mice (*132*). Appropriately, the group I mGluR agonist (*S*)-3,5-dihydroxyphenylglycine (DHPG) has been shown to promote cell proliferation in both mouse and human-derived cortical NPCs (*133, 134*). In mouse embryonic NPCs cultures, MPEP treatment has been shown to flatten and distort RG processes and transiently promote the motility pattern of neuron-like cells (*76*). The role of group II and III mGluRs in both embryonic and adult neurogenesis seems to be less clear, however. Most studies conducted on group II and III mGluRs have shown that activation of these receptors has negative effects on NPC proliferation and neuronal differentiation (*135, 136*), whereas, few studies have reported that mGluR3 and mGluR7 promote cortical NPC proliferation (*132, 137, 138*).

5.7 Tissue plasminogen activator

Tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) is a serine protease that catalyzes the conversion of plasminogen into proteinase plasmin. In the vascular system, tPA is primarily responsible for the removal of intravascular fibrin deposits (*139*), as a result, it is used as a thrombolytic agent for stroke and myocardial infarction (*140, 141*). Besides its role in the vascular system, tPA has been implicated in synaptic plasticity, learning and excitotoxic cell death (*142, 143*). In human CNS, tPA is widely expressed in neurons and glial cells of neocortex, hippocampus, cerebellum, hypothalamus, thalamus, medulla, and sympathetic ganglia (*144*). tPA exerts its functions in an either plasmin-dependent or -independent manner. The plasmin-dependent mechanisms include the conversion of the precursor form of brain-derived neurotropic factor (proBDNF) to mature form of BDNF, a crucial step in neuronal maturation and plasticity (*145*). The synaptic functions and excitotoxic effects exerted by tPA are known to be mediated via NMDAR signaling, which occurs both dependent and independent of plasminogen activation (*146-148*). In 2000, Nicole et al. first demonstrated that tPA directly cleaves the NR1 subunit and thereby increases the Ca²⁺ permeability of NMDAR in a plasmin independent manner (*146*). Subsequently, the mutation of Arginine260 within the NR1 subunit was shown as the tPA-mediated cleavage site (*149*). However, the

observations reporting the interplay between tPA and NMDAR remained controversial since the cleavage of NR1 subunit by tPA was shown to be an indirect effect, and in fact mediated by plasmin (147). Later, Samson et al. demonstrated the involvement of low-density lipoprotein (LRP) co-receptor in augmenting the NMDA-induced [Ca^{2+}]_i changes caused by tPA (148). Supporting the plasmin-mediated mechanisms, few other groups reported the cleavage of N2 subunit of NMDAR by tPA. The cleavage is shown to occur at two sites of the N2 subunit-Lys317 on N2A (150) and Arg67 on the N2B subunit (151) and thereby enhancing NMDAR activity. Whatever the mechanism, all these studies indicate that tPA increases NMDAR signaling. Thus, tPA plays a vital role in synaptic plasticity, either by proteolytic and nonproteolytic mechanisms involving pro-neurotrophins, NMDAR signaling, or via LRP. Besides, tPAdeficient mice are shown to be resistant to experimentally induced neuronal degeneration (143). tPA is also implicated in CNS pathologies, including Alzheimer's disease, infarct formation/injury, stroke, and seizure spreading (142).

5.8 Micro RNA

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are a class of short non-coding RNAs generated from long precursor RNA transcripts through a series of cleavage steps. miRNAs are 18-25 nucleotides long RNAs, which plays a crucial role in regulating gene expression posttranscriptionally. miRNAs bind to a short core sequence in the 3' untranslated region of its target mRNAs or non-coding RNAs (*152*) and results in mRNA degradation or repression of their translation. In 1993, Lee et al. first discovered lin-4 miRNA, which inhibits LIN-14 activity in *Caenorhabditis elegans* (*153*). Since then, over 2000 miRNAs have been identified in humans, and thought to control > 60% of human protein-coding genes (*154*). miRNAs are known to regulate many cellular functions including proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis (*155*). It is estimated that one-third of the human genes are regulated by miRNAs and alterations in their

expression (overexpression or repression) leads to disease states. miRNAs are implicated in many neuropsychiatric and neurodevelopmental disorders such as Schizophrenia, Tourette's syndrome, ASD, Rett syndrome, FXS and Down syndrome (*156*). Thus, activation or inhibition of miRNAs became a promising tool in the area of therapeutics (*157*).

5.9 Fragile X Syndrome

FXS is a monogenic leading cause of intellectual impairment and is frequently associated with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) (*158*). The prevalence of FXS in the general population is approximately 1 in 5000 males and 1 in 8000 females (*159*). The average age of diagnosis is 35-37 months (boys) and 41.6 months (girls) (*160*). The life expectancy of FXS patients is normal; however, they need support and care throughout their lives. Due to its X-linked heritability, males are more frequently affected than females. Males present with severe symptoms/features, including developmental delay, hyperactivity, cognitive and memory impairments, epilepsy, mild facial dysmorphology such as long face and prominent ears, macroorchidism (*161*) and a unique pattern of neuropsychiatric features. Because of random inactivation of X chromosome, cognitive disability in the phenotype of FXS females is generally milder than males but it associates with emotional problems (*162*). Currently, there is no targeted treatment for FXS, but most procedures are to help to minimize the disease condition. These include proper education, therapy, and medications that improve individual capabilities and skills. The pharmacological treatments prescribed are on individual basis to lessen symptoms of anxiety, aggression and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Treatment commonly used for FXS patients include stimulants, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), and antipsychotics (*163*).

5.9.1 Identification of FXS

FXS is also known as Martin-Bell syndrome, named after Martin and Bell who first reported the sexlinked inheritance of mental retardation in families in 1943 (164). More than two decades later, Lubs identified a fragile site in the long arm of X chromosome in a family, diagnosed with ID (165). Later, Sutherland found that the ability to visualize the fragile site depended on the specific culturing conditions with reduced folate (166). The exact location of the fragile site is found to be Xq27.3 (167), and the gene mapped to the constriction site is cloned and termed "FMR1 gene" (11). In most cases, the causative mutation is an expansion of CGG repeats (>200) within the 5'untranslated region of the FMR1 gene leading to promoter methylation and the absence or deficiency of FMRP (11). In normal individuals, the length of the CGG repeats vary between 6-54, whereas the premutation carriers contain 55-200 repeats (168). The premutation carriers are at increased risk of developing a condition known as fragile Xassociated tremor/ataxia syndrome (FXTAS). FXTAS is more common in males than females. Females are at risk of fragile X-associated primary ovarian insufficiency (FXPOI) (169, 170). The FXTAS and FXPOI symptoms are caused by increased transcription of the FMR1 gene and slightly reduced expression of FMRP (171). In both full mutation and premutation individuals, the severity of the phenotype depends on the number of CGG repeats (172). The repeat number has the tendency to increase every generation (173).

5.9.2 FMRP

FMRP is an RNA binding protein ubiquitously expressed in all mammalian tissues, predominately in brain and testis (20). In the brain, FMRP is mainly expressed in the cell body and dendrites of neurons (20, 174, 175) and also in axonal compartments (176, 177). Initially, the FMRP expression was shown to be restricted to neurons, however, later confirmed in astrocytes, oligodendrocytes and microglia of developing and adult mouse brain (178). FMRP is associated with the ribosomes via RNA in the

cytoplasm (174). FMRP contains functional nuclear localization and export signals indicating that FMRP shuttles between nucleocytoplasmic space (179, 180). In the nucleus, FMRP interacts with its homologous proteins fragile X related proteins 1 and 2, other proteins, and RNA/mRNA to form a ribonucleocomplex, which is likely involved in mRNA export from the nucleus to the cytoplasm (13). In the cytoplasm, FMRP along with its nuclear partners interacts with cytoplasmic proteins, such as FMRP-interacting protein 1 and 2 and regulates protein synthesis at synapses (13). FMRP selectively binds to as much as 4% of the total mRNAs in the mammalian brain (181). It contains four RNA-binding motifs: three KH domains (KH0, KH1, and KH2) and an arginine-glycine-rich box that mediates mRNA transport, stability, and regulation of translation (181, 182). FMRP represses the translation of mRNAs that are involved in neuronal and synaptic transmission such as NMDAR subunits, mGluR5, postsynaptic density 93 & 95, Shank 1-3, neuroligins 1-3 (183). Some of these mRNAs are identified as candidate genes for autism (184). In the absence of FMRP, translational repression of target mRNAs fails, leading to alterations in synaptic plasticity and dendritic spine dynamics, which are thought to underlie the clinical manifestations of FXS (185).

5.9.3 Fmr1-KO mouse model

Significant advancements have been made in fragile X research since the generation of the mouse *Fmr1* gene knockout model. *Fmr1*-knockout (*Fmr1*-KO) mice are the most widely used murine model for FXS and were generated by inserting a neomycin cassette in exon 5 of the *Fmr1* gene (*186*). The murine FMRP shows 97% amino acid homology to its human counterpart (*187*). Similar to humans, the life expectancy of *Fmr1*-KO mice is normal. Although the human FXS condition results from expanded CGG repeats, both human and mouse models are functionally identical with no FMRP production. Indeed, the *Fmr1*-KO model recapitulates many phenotypes observed in human FXS patients. They show similar morphological abnormalities in synapse structure, altered synapse function and an abundance of

immature dendritic spines (188). In addition, Fmr1-KO show learning deficits, hyperactivity and increased risk of seizures (186, 189). FMRP deficiency leads to the excessive synthesis of microtubuleassociated protein 1B (MAP1B), Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII), and the activity-regulated cytoskeleton-associated protein (Arc) in synaptoneurosomes (SNS) of *Fmr1-KO* mice (190), whose function is linked with synaptic plasticity. Subsequently, excessive translation of mRNAs is shown in cortical SNS (191), suggesting that absence of FMRP results in exaggerated protein synthesis at synapses.

5.9.4 FMRP and glutamatergic signaling

Extensive preclinical evidence on animal models of FXS has demonstrated that aberrant signaling via group 1 mGluRs has important consequences on the mechanisms involved in dysregulated synaptic plasticity in the absence of FMRP. Group 1 mGluRs include mGluR5 that is highly expressed in cortex, striatum, and CA1 and CA3 regions of the hippocampus and mGluR1 mainly expressed in the cerebellum, thalamus, and CA3 region of the hippocampus (*192*). Weiler et al. first demonstrated the connection between FMRP and mGluR pathways; they observed that activation of group 1 mGluRs by DHPG increased protein synthesis, including FMRP, in SNS (*175*). Later, Huber et al. showed that the absence of FMRP leads to increased mGluR-dependent protein synthesis and altered synaptic plasticity, including enhanced LTD in the postnatal and adult brain of *Fmr1*-KO mice (*14*). They also showed that NMDA-dependent LTD is normal in *Fmr1*-KO mice suggesting that the phenotype is linked exclusively to mGluR-dependent LTD (*14*, *193*, *194*). This led to the mGluR theory of FXS (*15*), which postulates that the absence of FMRP results in overactive glutamatergic signaling via mGluR5. The activation of group I mGluRs stimulates protein synthesis responsible for the internalization of synaptic AMPARs and NMDARs (*195*, *196*). Thus, in the normal brain, activation of mGluRs increases FMRP synthesis, which then negatively regulates the protein translation involved in AMPAR internalization during LTD (*13*).

In *Fmr1*-KO mice, the absence of FMRP increases translation of LTD proteins leading to aberrant glutamate receptors trafficking and consequently causing changes in synaptic plasticity (*13, 197-199*). Unlike normal mGluR-LTD, the *Fmr1*-KO mGluR-LTD does not require new protein synthesis because of basally elevated proteins levels in the absence of FMRP (*200, 201*).

Proteins regulating AMPAR endocytosis such as MAP1B, Arc, striatal-enriched protein tyrosine phosphatase (STEP) and amyloid precursor protein (APP) are upregulated in the brain of Fmr1-KO mice (190, 198, 202). AMPARs surface expression is decreased during hippocampal mGluR-LTD in Fmr1-KO mice (162, 200, 203) in agreement with the increased expression of AMPAR endocytosis proteins. Furthermore, in *Fmr1*-KO mice, GluA1 is decreased in the cortical synapses (204), synapse membrane (205, 206) and hippocampal neurons (207). The GluA1 and GluA2/3 levels are reduced in the SNS fractions of one-week-old *Fmr1*-KO mice, and at later developmental stage only GluA1 is reduced in SNS, while GluA2/3 and GluNR2B levels are reduced in cortical homogenates (208). Both protein and mRNA expression levels of GluA1 are decreased in the cerebral cortex, hippocampus and amygdala synaptosome extracts of Fmr1-KO mice (204, 209). In addition to the changes in AMPAR subunits expression, abnormal NMDAR expression patterns are observed in FXS. The GluNR1, NR2A, and NR2B levels are significantly reduced in homogenates and SNS fractions extracted from the prefrontal cortex (210) and in DG (211) of Fmr1-KO mice. Moreover, a significantly lower AMPA/NMDA ratio is observed just before the closure of the normal critical period in *Fmr1*-KO mice (212). In another *Fmr1*-KO2 mouse model, Pilpel et al. also reported lower AMPA/NMDA ratio at postnatal day 14, which is related to the upregulation of NMDAR component paralleled with downregulation of AMPAR component (213), suggesting that the AMPAR/NMDAR function is dysregulated in Fmr1-KO mice.

Genetic reduction of 50% mGluR5 signaling in *Fmr1*-KO mice corrects dendritic spine density, ocular dominance plasticity, inhibitory avoidance extinction, audiogenic seizures, body weight loss, and excessive protein synthesis (214). Complete *Grm5* knockout mice show impaired brain function (215); therefore it is vital to study heterozygous mice (*Fmr1*-^(y); *Grm5*+⁽⁻⁾) with 50% reduction in mGluR5 expression (214). Following the identification of a potent and selective, noncompetitive antagonist MPEP (216, 217), several groups reported the beneficial effects of antagonizing mGluR5 in FXS. In *Fmr1*-KO mice, MPEP treatment resulted in suppression of audiogenic seizure phenotype (218, 219), reduction in repetitive-like behavior (219, 220), rescued prepulse inhibition (PPI) (221), and normalized the increased density of immature spines and excessive protein synthesis (214, 221). MPEP administration in 2-week-old *Fmr1*-KO mice rescued the immature morphology of pyramidal neurons in the somatosensory cortex (222). Other mGluR5 antagonists, such as fenobam or mavoglurant, are also shown to have positive effects on FXS phenotype (223-225). These findings support the mGluR theory by showing that either by genetically reducing or by pharmacologically antagonizing mGluR5 signaling, the main phenotype of FXS can be completely rescued.

5.9.5 FMRP and neural progenitors

FMRP is widely expressed during embryonic development in both mouse and human (18-20), particularly in the regions where proliferating NPCs and newly born neurons are found. In normal mice, FMRP expression is highly detected at the end of the first postnatal week, and decline gradually thereafter (226, 227), indicating that FMRP plays a crucial role in early development. Altered NPCs proliferation and differentiation are reported in FXS. However, the biology of NPCs in FXS is not well characterized as very few groups have focused on studying early neuronal development. The studies of mouse NPC proliferation showed variations, which may depend on different methodologies, brain regions and developmental stages used. Neural colony-forming cell assay (228) has shown that the proliferation of

primary progenitors did not differ in neurospheres derived from the embryonic brains of Fmr1-KO and WT mice (21, 229). Similarly, no alterations have been reported in NPC proliferation in DG of Fmr1-KO mice (25), and in human FXS fetal cortex derived NPCs (230). However, the proliferation of secondary progenitors has been shown to be increased both in vitro and in vivo (21, 22). Increased neuronal differentiation and decreased astrocyte differentiation is observed in NPCs derived from mouse embryonic brain, human fetus, and in DG of Fmr1-KO mice (21, 25). In contrast, increased astrocyte differentiation and decreased neuronal differentiation is observed both in vitro and in vivo of DG of 8-10 week-old mice and NPCs derived from human embryonic stem cells (ESCs) (23, 24, 231). Callan et al. showed excessive proliferation of NPCs and accumulation of an increased number of neurons in dFmr1 mutant brain (232). Furthermore, lack of FMRP is shown to suppress transition of RG cells into IP cells via an actin-dependent mechanism (233), in line with the reduced production of RG (21, 25, 44). Another line of research shows that neurons generated from NPCs of DG of adult Fmr1-KO mice display impaired NMDAR-dependent synaptic plasticity (211). However, neurons in the CA1 region of the hippocampus showed no alterations in NMDAR-dependent synaptic plasticity (211). NMDAR-dependent activity is inversely correlated with NPC proliferation in the DG, indicating that impaired NMDAR-dependent activity might also lead to NPC dysregulation (234). Altogether, these results highlight the importance of FMRP in NPC maintenance and fate determination in both the developing and adult brain.

Recently, many research groups have generated NPCs from FXS hiPSCs to study the mechanisms involved in altered neuronal function, to identify the compounds that can reactivate a silent *FMR1* locus, and to restore *FMR1* gene expression. Gene expression and DNA methylation profiling studies demonstrated that NPCs generated from FXS hiPSCs exhibit alterations in expression of genes that are responsible for neurodevelopment, migration, and axon guidance (*235*). Few other groups succeeded in deleting the elongated CGG repeat in FXS hiPSC and undifferentiated cells using CRISPR/Cas9 genome
editing method (*236-238*). The deletion of CGG repeats resulted in promoter demethylation and restoration of *FMR1* gene expression in FXS hiPSCs and sustained throughout the neural rosette formation and in mature neurons (*236-238*). Bar-Nur et al. showed that DNA methyltransferase inhibitor 5-Azacytidine reactivated *FMR1* gene expression in FXS hiPSC derived neurons (*239*). Accordingly, high-throughput screening of FXS hiPSC derived NPCs revealed 5-Aza-2-deoxycytidine and 5-Azacytidine as positive hits (*238*). All these findings emphasize the importance of studying early developmental time stages, where FMRP is highly expressed, to understand the contribution of NPCs in altered neuronal and circuit excitability observed in FXS. The hiPSC studies reported in FXS are summarized in table 2.

References	(9)	(240)	(239)	(241)	(242)	(243)	(244)
Alterations and treatment/modification effects	FXS-hESCs express <i>FMR1</i> gene and become silent upon differentiation. Unlike FXS-hESCs, hiPSCs carry a completely silent <i>FMR1</i> locus.	The CCG repeat length is responsible for methylation status, <i>FMR1</i> gene, and FMRP expression. FXS-hiPSCs generate fewer neurons with short neuritis and more glial cells.	Treatment with DNMT inhibitor (5-Aza-C) cause demethylation of <i>FMR1</i> promoter leading to reactivation of <i>FMR1</i> gene in FXS hiPSCs and neurons.	Genome-wide analysis reveals that hypermethylation is unique to the <i>FMRI</i> locus and no other genomic regions show aberrant methylation.	Forebrain FXS neurons exhibit defects in neurite length, neurite outgrowth rate, and the number of neurites per sphere.	UFM fibroblasts express <i>FMR1</i> gene, while hiPSCs and NPCs show complete methylation leading to no detectable levels of <i>FMR1</i> mRNA.	FXS neurons show an increase in <i>REST</i> expression that result in suppression of genes essential for neural differentiation and axon guidance. Transfection of hsa-mir-382 into mature FXS neurons reduces <i>REST</i> expression thereby upregulating expression of axonal guidance genes.
Models	hiPSCs & hESCs	hiPSCs	hiPSCs	hiPSCs & peripheral blood	hiPSCs	hiPSCs	hiPSCs

Table 2: FXS hiPSC studies

(245)	(236)	(246)	(237)	(247)	(248)
Using TR-FRET assay, 6 compounds (Out of 5000) that induce moderate <i>FMR1</i> gene expression are identified in FXS-hiPSCs derived NPCs.	Using Cas9 nuclease, abnormal CGG repeats are deleted leading to promoter demethylation and restoration of <i>FMR1</i> expression. Both demethylation and <i>FMR1</i> expression sustained throughout the neural rosette formation and in mature FXS neurons.	Out of 50000 compounds screened, 2099 compounds are found (identity not disclosed) to induce a weak FMRP signal in FXS NPCs.	Excising expanded CGG repeats results in demethylation and reactivation of <i>FMR1</i> and FMRP expression in hiPSCs and somatic hybrid cells (containing human fragile X chromosome).	High-throughput RNA-seq analysis reveals 1559 differentially expressing genes during differentiation of FXS-hiPSCs into neurons. Most importantly, up-regulation of transcription factors involved in neuronal differentiation and down-regulation of genes encoding potassium channels, glutamatergic synapse.	Both hiPSCs and neurons derived from UFM individuals express <i>FMR1</i> gene. Only the iPS clones with >400 CGG repeats show full methylation, and <i>FMR1</i> gene remains silent. Neurons show accumulation of ubiquitin-positive inclusion bodies suggesting that the UFM individuals might develop FXTAS.
hiPSCs	hiPSCs & hESCs	hiPSCs	hiPSCs & Somatic hybrid cell lines	hiPSCs	hiPSCs

(238)	(249)	(235)
hESCs/hiPSCs are used to establish <i>FMR1</i> -Nluc reporter cell lines and further differentiated into NPCs. High-throughput screening of NPCs reveals DNMT inhibitors (5-Aza-dC and 5-Aza-C) as positive hits that can reactivate <i>FMR1</i> gene expression.	FXS NPCs derived from hiPSCs and mouse brain shows an increase in differentiation of cells responsive to glutamate receptors activation. MPEP (mGluR5 antagonist) treatment corrects the enhanced differentiation of a distinct subpopulation of FXS NPCs.	Gene expression and DNA methylation profiling demonstrate dysregulation of genes responsible for neurodevelopment, migration, neurite extension, cell motility, and axon guidance in FXS neurons. Also, the aberrant methylation patterns are shown to affect the gene expression profile during differentiation of FXS neurons.
hiPSCs & hESCs	hiPSCs and mouse embryonic brain- derived stem cells	hiPSCs

5-Aza-C, 5-Azacytidine; 5-Aza-dC, 5-Aza-2-deoxycytidine; DNMT, DNA methyltransferase; FMR1, fragile X mental retardation 1; cells; hiPSCs, human induced pluripotent stem cells; MPEP, methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)-pyridine; NPCs, neural progenitor cells; REST, FMRP, FMR1 Protein; FXS, fragile X syndrome; FXTAS, fragile X-associated tremor/ataxia syndrome; hESCs, human embryonic stem RE1 silencing transcription factor; TR-FRET, time-resolved fluorescence resonance energy transfer; UFM, unmethylated full mutation.

6. Aims of the study

The overarching aim of my doctoral thesis was to identify novel targets for pharmacological intervention in FXS. The study mainly focused on investigating the involvement of glutamate signaling in early neuronal differentiation and migration of NPCs lacking FMRP. The findings obtained with NPCs derived from FXS hiPSC lines were compared with those derived from *Fmr1*-KO embryonic mouse brain.

The specific aims of the study were as follows:

- I. To understand the role of tPA in the differentiation, migration and activity-dependent responses of FMRP-deficient NPCs
- II. To functionally characterize differentiation of glutamate-responsive cell populations and to identify mGluR5-mediated abnormalities during differentiation of human and mouse FMRPdeficient NPCs
- III. To investigate the mechanisms involved in enhanced differentiation of cells with Ca²⁺permeable AMPARs in human and mouse FMRP-deficient NPCs

7. Materials and Methods

7.1 Mouse model (*I-III*)

7.1.1 Fmr1-knockout mice

Fmr1-KO (B6.129P2-*Fmr1*^{tml/Cgr/J}, Jackson Laboratory) and wild-type (WT) mice were maintained in C57BL/6J genetic background (*I-III*). *Fmr1*-KO mice were generated (*186*) and genotyped by tail-PCR as described previously (*21*). Female *Fmr1*^{-/+} mice were crossed with male WT mice and embryos with *Fmr1*-KO, and WT genotypes were used in the study. All animals were group-housed by the guidelines of the National Institute of Health at the Animal Centre, University of Helsinki. The experiments were accomplished in accordance with the European Economic Community Council Directive and protocols were approved by the Experimental Animal Ethical Committee of the National Laboratory Animal Center, Finland.

For studies of early cortical neurogenesis (*II*), heterozygous female $FmrI^{-/+}$ mice carrying embryos received intraperitoneal (i.p.) injections of 5-Bromo-2-deoxyuridine (BrdU; 50 mg/kg) at embryonic day 14 (E 14). Two heterozygous pregnant female $FmrI^{-/+}$ mice received i.p. injections of MPEP (10 mg/kg) along with BrdU injections.

7.1.2 Brain tissue

Pregnant mice were sacrificed by cervical dislocation and pups by decapitation after being anesthetized with CO₂. Cell cultures were prepared from the mouse brain tissues at E14 (*I-III*). The embryonic day 17 (E17), postnatal day 7 (P7), and adult brains were collected for paraffin sectioning (*I,II*). Freshly collected brains were fixed in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) containing 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) at $+4^{\circ}$ C overnight (O/N) followed by dehydration with ethanol series: 70% for 2 h, 96% for 2 h, and 100% at $+4^{\circ}$ C O/N. Brains were washed with xylene for 2 h and immersed in paraffin at $+60^{\circ}$ C O/N. On the

following day, paraffin molded brains were sectioned into 20 μm coronial sections onto cover glasses using a MICROM HM 355 microtome (Thermo Fisher Scientific).

7.1.3 Generation and culturing of neural progenitors

Cortical NPCs were used to examine intracellular calcium $([Ca^{2+}]_i)$ responses cell motility, whole-cell currents, protein expression, and mRNA expression levels (I-III). NPCs were propagated from the wall of lateral ventricles of WT and *Fmr1*-KO mice as previously described (250). The dissected brain tissue (E14) was dissociated in (mg/ml) 0.2 kynurenic acid, 0.7 hyaluronidase, and 1.33 trypsin, in Hank's balanced salt solution (HBSS) containing 2 mM glucose at +37°C for 30 min. After titration, the cells were centrifuged at 200 X g for 5 min, and the pellet was resuspended in HBSS containing 0.9 M sucrose and centrifuged at 750 X g for 10 min. Thereafter, cells were resuspended in Earl's balanced salt solution (EBSS) and centrifuged through a gradient of 12 ml EBSS containing 4% bovine serum albumin (BSA) at 200 X g for 7 min. The cell pellet was resuspended in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium nutrient mixture F-12 (DMEM/F-12) containing B27 supplement, L-glutamine (2 mM), HEPES (15 mM), penicillin (100 U/ml), and streptomycin (100 U/ml) and cultured in the presence of bFGF (10 ng/ml) and EGF (20 ng/ml). Cells were grown as free-floating aggregates known as neurospheres (46) in a 5% CO₂humidified incubator at +37°C. The culture medium was refreshed (50% of the medium) twice and growth factors were added thrice per week. The neurospheres were passaged by manual trituration approximately once a week, and all the experiments were performed on neurospheres between passages 3 and 10.

7.2 Human model (II,III)

7.2.1 FXS induced pluripotent stem cells

Seven hiPSC lines were used in the study: HEL100.1, HEL100.2, HEL70.3, and HEL69.5 (full mutation; FXS), and HEL46.11, HEL23.3, and HEL11.4 (control) (*II*,*III*). With informed consent, human samples were collected from boys diagnosed with FXS (age range: 6-13 years) and from healthy individuals (age range: neonatal and 83). hiPSC lines were reprogrammed at the Biomedicum Stem cell center (University of Helsinki) using CytoTune-iPS Sendai Reprogramming Kit. The hiPSCs were grown as monolayer cultures on Matrigel-coated plates in Essential 8 medium and maintained in a 5% CO₂-humidified incubator at +37^oC. The culture medium was replaced every alternate day, and the cell colonies were passaged approximately once every 4-5 days with 0.5 mM EDTA in PBS. All iPSC lines used for generation of NPCs were between passages 15 and 40.

7.2.2 Generation and culturing of neural progenitors

Neural differentiation was induced as previously described (79). NPCs were generated from both control and FXS hiPSC lines and further used to examine $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ responses, protein expression, mRNA expression levels, and transcriptional profile (*II,III*). hiPSC colonies were grown on low adherent plates in neuronal differentiation medium containing DMEM/F-12: Neurobasal (1:1), Glutamax (2 mM), B27 and N2 supplement in the presence of bFGF (20 ng/ml). Under these conditions, the hiPSCs form freefloating aggregates (neurospheres) in 2-4 days. After the first week, the culture medium was replaced completely, and growth factors were added every 2-3 days. Neurospheres were grown for 6-8 weeks and manually passaged approximately once a week, and all the experiments were performed on neurospheres between passages 6 and 8.

7.3 Neurosphere differentiation (*I-III*)

For experiments, human (*II*,*III*) and mouse (*I-III*) neurospheres (average size 200-250 µm) were plated on poly-D-lysine/laminin and poly-DL-ornithine coated cover glasses in the absence of growth factors, respectively. Neurospheres were differentiated in the presence or absence of tPA blocker, MPEP, Philanthotoxin (PhTx), or Naspm trihydrochloride (Naspm) for the indicated periods of time. Growth factors were always added to the cells a day before experimentation and cell cultures were tested regularly to ensure that they were free from mycoplasma contamination.

7.4 Calcium Imaging (I-III)

Ca²⁺ imaging was performed (*21*) to analyze functional responses in human and mouse NPCs (*1-111*). Cells were stimulated with different glutamate receptor agonists/antagonists and changes in the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels were recorded. For experiments, cells were loaded with 4 µM fura-2 acetoxymethylester (fura-2/AM; Ca²⁺ indicator) at +37^oC for 20 min in HEPES-buffered medium (in mM): 137 NaCl, 5 KCl, 0.44 KH₂PO₄, 4.2 NaHCO₃, 10 glucose, 2 CaCl₂, and 0.5 MgCl₂. Thereafter, coverslips were attached to a temperated perfusion chamber and cells were perfused continuously with an external solution at 2 ml/min at +37^oC. The fluorescence intensities were recorded after continuous excitation of the measured cells at 340 nm and 380 nm using a 430 nm dichroic mirror and 510 nm barrier filter with an integrating chargecoupled device camera (Olympus). An image (340/380 nm) was acquired every second. One neurosphere per coverslip (4-10 coverslips/group) was analyzed and $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ rise in the soma of 40-100 cells derived from each neurosphere was measured. Cells were stimulated with agonists, and after recording the response, cells were washed with HBM to recover the basal $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels. The data were analyzed using InCyt 4.5 software (Intracellular Imaging Inc.) or Cell R software (Olympus) and further processed with Origin 6.0 software (OriginLabCorp.). All agonists and antagonists are listed in table 3.

Table 3: Agonists/Antagonists	used in the study
-------------------------------	-------------------

Compound	Agonist/Antagonist	Manufacturer	Final concentration	Publication
			(µM)	
DHPG	Group I mGluR agonist	Tocris	10	II,III
Kainic acid	Kainate/AMPAR agonist	Tocris	50	II,III
NMDA	NMDAR agonist	Tocris	50	II,III
Glycine	NMDAR potentiator	Tocris	10	II,III
AMPA	AMPAR agonist	Tocris	50	III
Naspm	AMPAR antagonist	Tocris	10	III
PhTX	Kainate/AMPAR antagonist	Tocris	10	III

AMPA, alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid; DHPG, (S)-3,5 dihydroxyphenylglycine; Naspm, Naspm trihydrochloride; NMDA, N-methyl-D-aspartate; PhTx, philanthotoxin.

7.5 Time-lapse live imaging (I,II)

The Cell-IQ live imaging system (Chip-Man Technologies) was used to monitor cellular movement during early differentiation of mouse NPCs (*I,II*). The Cell-IQ system is a cell-culturing instrument combined with phase contrast microscopy, automation, and environmental control. The system contains an integrated incubator, precision movement stages (x, y-axes: $\pm 1\mu$ m; z-axis: $\pm 0.4 \mu$ m), two gas flow controllers, and an automated optics module fully controlled through machine vision-based firmware and analysis software. Cell movement was monitored continuously during first 24 h period in two 6-well

plates attached to an integrated plate holder in the incubator. Image analysis was performed using ImageJ or onboard analyzer software.

7.6 Immunostaining (I-III)

7.6.1 Immunohistochemistry

Paraffin sections (*I*,*II*) were deparaffinized in xylene and rehydrated in ethanol series and water. Sections were subjected to antigen retrieval by boiling in 10 mM citrate buffer for 15 min and blocked with 0.5% Triton X-100 and 20% normal goat serum (NGS) in PBS at room temperature (RT) for 1 h. Thereafter, sections were incubated with primary antibodies at +4°C O/N followed by incubation with secondary antibodies at RT for 1 h. The cell nuclei were counterstained with 4',6-Diamidino-2-Phenylindole (DAPI). The fluorescent images were obtained with AxioPLAN 2 imaging microscope, and LSM Pascal laser scanning confocal microscope (both from Zeiss) and processed using ImageJ software. All primary and secondary antibodies are listed in table 4 and 5.

7.6.2 Immunocytochemistry

Differentiated human and mouse NPCs (*I-III*) were fixed with 4% PFA at RT for 10 min. Cells were permeabilized and blocked using 10% NGS and 1% BSA in PBS containing 0.1% Triton X-100 at RT for 45 min. Thereafter, cells were incubated with primary antibodies at +4^oC O/N followed by incubation with secondary antibodies at RT for 1 h. Finally, cells were washed with PBS and counterstained with Vectashield mounting medium containing DAPI. The fluorescent images were obtained with AxioImager (Zeiss) and processed using ImageJ software (ImageJ developers). All primary and secondary antibodies are listed in table 4 and 5.

Antibody	Host	Manufacturer	Dilution	Publication	Method
Anti-PLAT	Rabbit	Proteintech	1:50	Ι	IHC
Anti-PAI-1	Rabbit	Abcam	1:500	Ι	IHC
Anti-GFAP	Chicken	Abcam	1:1000	Ι	IHC
Anti-TrkB	Rabbit	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	1:150	Ι	IHC
Anti-tPA	Mouse	American Diagnostica	10mg/ml	Ι	ICC
Anti-GFAP	Rabbit	Millipore	1:1000	I,II	ICC
Anti-BLBP	Rabbit	Millipore	1:750	I,II	ICC
Anti-DCX	Guinea pig	Millipore	1:100	I,II	ICC
Anti-MAP2	Mouse	Millipore	1:500	I,II,III	ICC
Anti-Tbr2	Rabbit	Chemicon	1:2000	II	IHC
Anti-BrdU	Mouse	Amersham	*	II	IHC
Anti-mGluR5	Rabbit	Millipore	1:50	II	ICC
Anti-FMRP	Rabbit	Abcam	1:500	II	WB
Anti-TRA1-60	Mouse	Thermo Fisher	1:500	II,III	ICC
Anti-OCT4	Rabbit	Cell signalling	1:500	II,III	ICC
Anti-SSEA3	Rat	Millipore	1:100	II,III	ICC
Anti-GluA2	Mouse	Millipore	1:100	III	ICC

Table 4: Primary antibodies used in the study

ICC, Immunocytochemistry; IHC, Immunohistochemistry; WB, Western Blotting.

*Dilution used according to manufacturer's instructions.

Antibody	Species reactivity	Manufacturer	Dilution	Publication	Method
Alexa Fluor 568	Rabbit	Invitrogen	1:500-1000	Ι	ICC
Alexa Fluor 488	Chicken	Invitrogen	1:500-1000	Ι	IHC,ICC
Alexa Fluor 568	Guinea pig	Invitrogen	1:5000	I,II	ICC
Alexa Fluor 488	Rabbit	Invitrogen	1:2000	I,II,III	IHC,ICC
Alexa Fluor 488	Mouse	Life technologies	1:500	I,II,III	ICC
HRP conjugate	Rabbit	GE Healthcare	1:10000	II	WB
Alexa Fluor 488	Rat	Life technologies	1:500	II,III	ICC
Alexa Fluor 568	Mouse	Invitrogen	1:5000	II,III	ICC

Table 5: Secondary antibodies used in the study

ICC, Immunocytochemistry; IHC, Immunohistochemistry; WB, Western Blotting.

7.7 Quantitative PCR (II,III)

Gene expression levels were quantified in human and mouse NPCs, and in mouse prefrontal cortex, using qPCR (*II,III*). Total RNA was extracted with the Norgen's RNA purification kit followed by cDNA synthesis (1 µg of total RNA) with iScriptTM or Transcriptor First Strand cDNA synthesis kit. qPCR was performed with SYBR Green I kit using Light Cycler 480 II Real-Time PCR system (Roche). For miRNA assays, cDNA was prepared from 100 ng of total RNA with TaqMan microRNA RT kit followed by qPCR with TaqMan universal Mmix II. All samples were run in triplicates and data were analyzed

using second derivative max method determining the threshold cycle (Ct) (251). *GAPDH* and *miR-191* were used as internal controls. PCR Primers are listed in table 6.

Gene	Forward primer	Reverse primer
FMR1	5'-GAAAACAACTGGCAGCCTGATAG-3'	5'-CATTTGCTCTGGAATACACCTC
		AAC-3'
GRIAI	5'-CCCTGAGAGGTCCCGTAAAC-3'	5'-ACTTCCGGAGTCCTTGCTTC-3'
GAPDH	5'-TGTTCCAATATGATTCCACCC-3'	5'-CTTCTCCATGGTGCGTGAAGA-3'
mGluR5	5'-AGCGCCTTCACAACCTCTAC-3'	5'-CCTGTCGCTGTGCATCCT-3'
Grial	5'-GGGGTCCGCCCTGAGAAATCCA-3'	5'-TGGAGTCACCTCCCCGCTG-3'
Gria2	5'-CGGGGGAGGTGATTCCAAGGAAAAG-3'	5'-CCAAACCAAGGCCCCCGACA-3'
Gapdh	5'-AACGACCCCTTCATTGAC-3'	5'-TCCACGACATACTCAGCAC-3'

Table 6: PCF	primers used	d in the study
--------------	--------------	----------------

microRNA Primer		miRBase Accession number
miR-181a-5p	AACAUUCAACGCUGUCGGUGAGU	MI0000289
miR-181a-3p	ACCAUCGACCGUUGAUUGUACC	MI0000289
1		
miR-191-5p	CAACGGAAUCCCAAAAGCAGCUG	MI0000465
1		

7.8 Western Blotting (II)

The FMRP expression in hiPSCs was measured using Western blotting. Cells were lysed in ice-cold RIPA buffer and supplemented with protease and phosphatase cocktail. An equal amount (90 µg) of protein was separated by polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis, transferred onto nitrocellulose membrane,

and blocked with 5% nonfat dry milk at RT for 1 h. Thereafter, the membrane was incubated with primary antibody (Table 4) at $+4^{\circ}$ C O/N followed by incubation with horse peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (Table 5) at RT for 1 h. The immunoreactive FMRP was detected using G: BOX Chemi XX6 imaging system (Syngene).

7.9 Patch clamp recordings (III)

Patch clamp recordings were performed in mouse NPCs to measure whole-cell currents using Axopatch 1B patch clamp amplifier (Molecular devices). Coverslips with cells were placed onto the microscope and perfused continuously with external recording solution (in mM): 150 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 10 glucose, 10 HEPES, 2.5 CaCl₂, and 1 MgCl₂. All agonists/antagonists were diluted in the recording solution and applied to the cells through the piezo-driven applicator (Siskiyou Corporation). The recording micropipettes (3-4 M Ω) were filled with internal solution (in mM): 100 *N*-methyl-D-glucamine, 100 CH₃SO₃H, 40 CsF, 10 HEPES, 10 MgCl₂, and 5 EGTA. For *I-V* curve recordings, spermine was added to the internal solution. Data were low-pass filtered at 1 kHz and acquired at 5 kHz, and analyzed using Clampfit 10.2 software (Molecular devices) and Prism 4.02 software (GraphPad). Glutamate receptor agonists/antagonists used in the study included: 1 mM L-glutamate; 100 μ M Cyclothiazide; 10 μ M NBQX; 10 μ M Naspm.

7.10 Transcriptional profiling (III)

Gene expression profiling was performed with human NPCs using Affymetrix Human Clariom D array (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Biotinylated cRNA was prepared from 100 ng of total RNA using the GeneChip WT plus reagent kit. Following fragmentation, 5.2 µg of cRNA was hybridized to Affymetrix Human Clariom D arrays and scanned using a Hewlett-Packard GeneChip Scanner 3000. The CEL files

were processed and normalized using Signal Space Transformation – Robust Multichip analysis. Affymetrix Expression Console software was used to analyze the processed gene data files.

7.11 Statistical analysis (I-III)

The statistical comparisons were carried out using two-sided Student's unpaired *t*-test (*I-III*), Fisher's exact test (*II,III*), One-way ANOVA followed by *post hoc* Tukey/Bonferroni test (*I,III*), and Mann-Whitney test (*III*). Levene's and Shapiro-Wilk test was used to check the homogeneity of variances and normality of the data, respectively. All statistical tests were performed using IBM SPSS analysis software (IBM Analytics). *P* value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.



7.12 Experimental setup

Figure 2: The experimental setup used to study human and mouse cellular models. iPSCs, induced pluripotent stem cells.

8. Results

8.1 Tissue plasminogen activator contributes to alterations of neuronal migration and activitydependent responses in fragile X mice (I)

8.1.1 tPA expression in NPCs and in brain of Fmr1-KO mice

We compared the tPA expression in embryonic cortical NPCs, in developing and mature brain of *Fmr1*-KO mice to that in WT controls. A significant increase was seen in the number of tPA-immunoreactive cells in FMRP-deficient neurospheres at day 7 and 14 of differentiation (**Article I**: Figure 1A,B). The tPA-positive cells mainly co-expressed GFAP in both WT and *Fmr1*-KO cells (**Article I**: Figure 1B,D), however, tPA expression was not seen in MAP2-positive cells (**Article I**: Figure 1C). Furthermore, an abnormal expression pattern was observed for tPA in the developing brain of *Fmr1*-KO mice (**Article I**: Figure 4A). The proportion of tPA-immunoreactive cells was increased in cortical layers I-III (1.8 fold) and decreased in layers IV-VI (0.7 fold) at P7 (**Article I**: Figure 4C,D). The number of tPA-positive cells was increased (3.2 fold) paralleled with reduction of PA1-1 expressing cells (0.7 fold) in the DG of *Fmr1*-KO mice (**Article I**: Figure 4E,F). Also, the tPA expression was significantly increased in somatosensory cortex, visual cortex, and DG of the adult brain of *Fmr1*-KO mice (**Article I**: Figure 5A-D). Likewise in FMRP-deficient neurospheres, tPA-immunoreactive cells colocalized with GFAP in both cortex and hippocampus of *Fmr1*-KO mice (**Article I**: Figure 5C,D).

8.1.2 Effects of tPA on migration and intracellular calcium responses to depolarization in mouse NPCs lacking FMRP

In the neurosphere model, cells migrating out of the cluster initially display RG morphology followed by maturing neuron-like cells (*76, 77*). The morphology of the cells correlated with immunocytochemical stainings showing that the majority of RG cells are immunopositive to BLBP, and neuron-like cells are immunopositive to DCX (**Article I**: Figure 2B). Using time-lapse live imaging, neuron-like cells lacking FMRP were observed to migrate longer distances from the edge of the neurosphere after 24 h of differentiation (Article I: Figure 2A). Treatment of FMRP-deficient cells with tPA-neutralizing antibody normalized the distance migrated by neuron-like cells to WT levels (Article I: Figure 2A). Similarly, treatment with tPA blocker normalized the distance migrated by DCX-immunoreactive FMRP-deficient NPCs (Article I: Figure 2B,C). Besides, blocking tPA activity rescued the distance traveled by RG and the velocity of the interkinetic nuclear migration (INM) of FMRP-deficient RG (Article I: Figure 2D-F). Furthermore, the involvement of tPA on $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ responses to depolarization during early NPC differentiation is reported. To understand the possible correlation between distance migrated and functional responses the whole migration was divided into three zones (21 µm/each zone, from the edge of the neurosphere) (Article I: Figure 3A). Depolarization with 17 and 75 mM extracellular potassium $([K^+]_e)$ caused changes in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels in most cells migrating out of the neurosphere in both FMRPdeficient and WT neurospheres. The amplitude of response to depolarization with 17 and 75 mM $[K^+]_e$ was enhanced in the outer migration zones of FMRP-deficient cells (Article I: Figure 3C,D). Treatment with tPA-neutralizing antibody lowered the Ca^{2+} responses only in FMRP-deficient NPCs (Article I: Figure 3E). In summary, the results implicate a vital contribution of glial cells to altered neuronal differentiation in FXS (252) and indicate the involvement of tPA-mediated mechanisms in the aberrant migration and functional changes of FMRP-deficient RG.

8.2 Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 responses dictate differentiation of neural progenitors to NMDA-responsive cells in Fragile X syndrome (II)

8.2.1 Functional characterization of glutamate-responsive NPCs and MPEP effects on mouse FMRPdeficient cells

To improve understanding of altered mGluR signaling in FXS (14, 15), mGluR5-mediated changes were studied during early differentiation of NPCs derived from Fmr1-KO mice. Consistent with the spatial distribution of cell populations observed with immunostainings, the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ responses to DHPG

dominated in the cells closer to the neurosphere. After longer differentiation, [Ca²⁺]_i responses to DHPG decreased, and responses to activation of iGluRs (kainate, AMPA, NMDA) increased towards the outer migration zone.

The $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ responses to activation of glutamate receptor agonists were functionally characterized in Fmr1-KO neurospheres and responses were compared with those in WT controls. In the absence of extracellular Ca^{2+} , DHPG caused only a transient rise in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, whereas a sustained Ca^{2+} response was observed in the presence of extracellular Ca^{2+} (Article II: Figure 1B). At day 7 of differentiation, the proportion of DHPG-responsive cells remained unaltered before and after treatment with MPEP (a specific mGluR5 antagonist) between Fmr1-KO and WT neurospheres (Article II: Figure 1C). To understand the distribution of DHPG-responsive cells, the migration area was divided into three zones (Article II: Figure 1D) (as described in study I). The proportion of DHPG-responsive cells was increased in zone 1 and reduced in zone 3 of FMRP-deficient cells (Article II: Figure 1E). MPEP treatment reduced the cell population in zone 2 and normalized in zone 3 (Article II: Figure 1D), without changes in the total DHPG-responsive cell population. Based on $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ responses to mGluR and iGluRs activation, the differentiating NPCs were distinguished into three subpopulations (figure 3). In the type 1 subpopulation, the majority of cells showed a robust response to activation of mGluR and minor/no response to iGluRs (Article II: Figure 1F). The type 2 cell population showed a substantial response to activation of both mGluR and iGluRs (Article II: Figure 1H), and type 3 displayed a prominent response to the activation of iGluRs and no response to mGluR. The proportion of type 1 (Article II: Figure 1G) and type 3 subpopulations of cells did not alter between WT and FMRP-deficient NPCs, even after MPEP treatment. However, a significant increase was seen in the type 2 cell population in FMRP-deficient cells, and MPEP treatment normalized the abnormal differentiation of the subpopulation (Article II: Figure 1I). In addition, the type 2 cell population was accumulated in zone 2 and displayed unipolar morphology

(Article II: Figure 1J,K). Treatment with MPEP normalized the accumulation and reduced the number of cells with unipolar morphology in FMRP-deficient cells (Article II: Figure 1J,K). In agreement with the enhanced differentiation of FMRP-deficient glutamate-responsive cells, a significant increase was observed in the magnitude of DHPG responses in all three zones of migration area of FMRP-deficient NPCs (Article II: Figure 2A).



Figure 3: Neural progenitor subpopulations based on their responses to activation of glutamate receptors. DHPG, *(S)*-3,5-dihydroxyphenylglycine; KA, kainic acid; NMDA, *N*-methyl-D-aspartate.

8.2.2 Effects of MPEP on motility and morphology of differentiating NPCs, and on cortical neurogenesis of Fmr1-KO mice

We next examined the effects of MPEP on motility pattern and morphology of NPCs during early differentiation. Using time-lapse live imaging, the freely moving neuron-like cells were monitored in the outer border of migration area during the first 24 h of differentiation. The motility pattern was analyzed by the dividing the cell movement into periods of stalling (movement < 30μ m/h) and surges (movement > 30μ m/h) in WT and *Fmr1*-KO neurospheres without and with MPEP treatment (**Article II**: Figure 4A-D). The motility pattern (surges/stalling), mean velocity, and the distance traveled by neuron-like cells were increased in FMRP-deficient neurospheres (**Article II**: Figure 4E-G). MPEP treatment normalized the altered pattern and migration in only *Fmr1*-KO NPCs (**Article II**: Figure 4E-G). Furthermore,

treatment with MPEP increased the neurite length of MAP2-positive cells and rescued the number of multipolar GFAP-positive cells in FMRP-deficient neurospheres (**Article II**: Figure 5A-D). Administration of MPEP to E14 *Fmr1*-KO mice triggered a significant reduction in the number of Tbr2-but not BrdU-positive cells at E17 (**Article II**: Figure 6A-C). Tbr2 is expressed in VZ/SVZ of the neocortex during glutamatergic cortical neurogenesis (*253*). These results suggest that MPEP possibly corrects the aberrant neurogenesis in *Fmr1*-KO mice by reducing the increased differentiation of the glutamatergic cell population.

8.2.3 Functional characterization of human iPSC-derived NPCs, and MPEP effects on FXS glutamateresponsive cell populations

Following the identification of mGluR5-mediated alterations in *Fmr1*-KO neurospheres, the same was examined in hiPSC-derived NPCs. Three controls and four FXS hiPSC lines were used in the study. All cell lines expressed pluripotency markers and FXS cell lines did not express *FMR1* and FMRP (**Article II**: Figure S1). Most cells migrating out of the differentiating human neurosphere showed immunopositivity to MAP2 at day 1 of differentiation (**Article II**: Figure 3A) indicating that the cells were committed to the neuronal fate. In line with the enhanced differentiation, an increase in a DHPG-responsive cell population was observed, coincident with an increased magnitude of responses to DHPG in FXS NPCs at day 7 of differentiation (**Article II**: Figure 3D,E). Furthermore, both [Ca²⁺]_i responses and the proportion of cells responding to activation of iGluRs were increased in FXS NPCs (**Article II**: Figure 3F,G,J,K).

Unlike in mouse neurospheres, MPEP treatment further increased the DHPG-responsive and type 2 cell population in human FXS cells (**Article II**: Figure 3C,D). However, the type 3 cell population was

normalized after MPEP treatment (**Article II**: Figure 3E), which was almost negligible in mouse NPCs. MPEP treatment also normalized the FXS-specific increase in NMDA-responsive cells (**Article II**: Figure 3F), and reduced the amplitude of responses and cells responding to KA in FXS NPCs (**Article II**: Figure 3G,J). Altogether, these results strikingly demonstrate an FXS-specific increase in a subpopulation of NPCs and MPEP treatment showing cell-type specific effects on maturation of glutamate-responsive cells.

8.3 Functional changes of AMPA responses in human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neural progenitors in fragile X syndrome (III)

8.3.1 Mechanisms involved in altered differentiation of CP-AMPAR expressing human FXS NPCs

This study was set forth to investigate the molecular mechanisms involved in aberrant differentiation of glutamate-responsive cells in FMRP-deficient NPCs derived from hiPSCs. After differentiating neurospheres for 1 and 7 days, all cells in the migration area were sequentially challenged with NMDA, KA, and DHPG (**Article III**: Figure 1B). The proportion of glutamate-responsive cells was increased in FXS neurospheres at both day 1 and 7 of differentiation compared to controls (**Article III**: Figure 1C,D), in line with previous studies showing altered kinetics of FXS NPCs (*45*). Importantly, the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ responses and percentage of cells responding to KA were more abundant in FXS neurospheres (**Article III**: Figure 1F,G). KA is a potent AMPAR agonist that does not cause receptor desensitization (**Article III**: Figure 1E), whereas it exhibits transient effects on kainate receptors (*254, 255*). An identical abnormal increased response was seen when stimulated with specific AMPAR agonist in FXS NPCs (**Article III**: Figure 1H). A more detailed analysis revealed that the enhanced responses to KA were mainly detectable in the cell population that was responsive to either NMDA or DHPG (**Article III**: Figure 7B), suggesting a coordinate regulation of glutamate receptors in aberrant functional maturation of glutamate-mediated responses in FXS.

Next, the effects of Ca^{2+} permeable AMPAR (CP-AMPAR) blockers were tested on the increased Ca^{2+} permeability observed in FXS NPCs. PhTx, a blocker of CP-AMPARs, fully inhibited the sustained Ca^{2+} response to KA in 69 ± 5% FXS cells and 49 ± 4% control cells when applied through bath solution or treated prior (**Article III**: Figure 2A,B). Likewise, Naspm, a blocker of CP-AMPARs lacking GluA2 subunit completely blocked the AMPA responses in 53.3 ± 3% FXS cells and 38.4 ± 7% control cells (**Article III**: Figure 2D,E). Since GluA2 subunit has been shown to regulate Ca^{2+} permeability (*256, 257*), these results indicate that reduced GluA2 expression led to increased Ca^{2+} permeability in NPCs lacking FMRP (figure 4). Cells sensitive to CP-AMPAR blockers predominantly co-expressed NMDA receptors in FXS cells in FXS. The reduction of GluA2 protein expression in FXS neurospheres was confirmed using immunocytochemical analysis (**Article III**: Figure 5A). Furthermore, the normal developmental regulation of *GRIA1* transcript levels shown in WT NPCs (*77, 111*) was absent in FXS neurospheres (**Article III**: Figure 5C), suggesting aberrant maturation of AMPARs during early differentiation of FXS NPCs.



Figure 4: Reduced GluA2-lacking AMPA receptors caused increased calcium permeability of human FXS neural progenitors.

To shed further light on the underlying mechanisms responsible for reduced GluA2 expression, transcriptome analysis was undertaken, showing that *MIR-181A1* host gene expression was increased (P = 0.018) in FXS NPCs. The non-coding *MIR-181A1* host gene generates *miR-181a* and *miR-181b* microRNAs, which regulate GluA2 expression (*258, 259*). Particularly, *miR-181a* has been shown to have a direct interaction with GluA2 subunit and inhibits its activity posttranscriptionally (*258, 260*). Using qPCR, the mRNA expression of *miR-181a* was validated and the *miR-181a* transcript expression was found to be significantly increased in FXS NPCs (**Article III**: Figure 6B,C). Taken together, the results indicate that increase in *miR-181a* expression could be implicated with reduced GluA2 activity leading to enhanced Ca²⁺ permeability in FXS.

8.3.2 Mechanisms involved in altered differentiation of CP-AMPAR expressing mouse Fmr1-KO NPCs Similar to human FXS NPCs, the glutamate-responsive cell populations were increased in mouse FMRPdeficient cells, at both day 1 and 7 of differentiation (**Article III**: Figure 3A-D). AMPAR blockers completely abolished the KA/AMPA responses in a larger proportion of *Fmr1*-KO cells at day 7 of differentiation (**Article III**: Figure 3E-F). In addition, the effects of NBQX and Naspm on glutamateevoked currents were assessed using whole-cell patch clamp recordings. Confirming the presence of AMPARs in differentiating neurospheres, the glutamate-evoked currents were entirely blocked by NBQX in both WT and *Fmr1*-KO cells (**Article III**: Figure 4A,B). Following the application of Naspm, the glutamate-evoked currents showed substantial inhibition in *Fmr1*-KO neurospheres (**Article III**: Figure 4A,B). Consistent with GluA2-lacking AMPARs exhibiting strong inward rectification (*261*, *262*), a significant reduction was observed in inward rectification index (I₁₊₄₀/L₆₀) in FMRP-deficient cells (**Article III**: Figure 4C-E). These results support the findings demonstrating the presence of more GluA2lacking AMPARs in *Fmr1*-KO neurospheres than in controls. Comparable to human FXS NPCs, the GluA2 protein expression was reduced, and an abnormal developmental pattern of *Gria1* transcript levels was observed in FMRP-deficient neurospheres at day 7 of differentiation (**Article III**: Figure 5B,D). In addition, *Gria2* and *Gria1* mRNA expression levels were decreased in the adult prefrontal cortex of *Fmr1*-KO mice (**Article III**: Figure 5E). In summary, the alterations in the functional properties of AMPARs, depending on GluA2 subunit expression, demonstrated a novel Ca^{2+} -dependent mechanism in FXS NPCs, which might contribute to the hyperexcitability in the FXS brain (*263*).

9. Discussion

The present work was centered upon the investigation of glutamate receptor-mediated alterations during differentiation of FXS NPCs, as well as the study of the effects of specific mGluR5 and AMPAR antagonists on the early aberrances. In addition, the involvement of tPA-mediated processes on neuronal migration and activity-dependent changes of *Fmr1*-KO NPCs were investigated.

9.1 Altered differentiation of FMRP-deficient neural progenitors

The loss of FMRP results in increased protein synthesis and altered synaptic plasticity, including exaggerated mGluR-mediated LTD (9, 14, 15, 214, 264). Excessive activity of group I mGluR signaling is thought to underlie the main phenotype of *Fmr1*-KO mice. The high expression of mGluR5 in the active neurogenic zones of pre- and postnatal brains (131) highlights its importance during neurogenesis. The $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ responses to DHPG were enhanced in both human and mouse FXS NPCs during early differentiation, in line with previous studies showing inappropriate group I mGluR signaling in *Fmr1*-KO mice (14). The $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ responses to activation of iGluRs were also augmented in human FXS NPCs, suggesting the excessive activity of glutamate signaling already at early stages of NPCs differentiation. However, the amplitude of responses to activation of iGluRs are not similarly increased in mouse *Fmr1*-KO NPCs, which may reflect progenitor type-dependent differences between human and mouse. Both plasmin-dependent and -independent mechanisms of tPA have been proposed to potentiate NMDAR signaling (146, 147). For instance, treatment with exogenous tPA increases NMDA-induced $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ response in mouse cortical neurons (148). The enhanced NMDAR activity of responses can be associated with increased tPA expression in *Fmr1*-KO NPCs. Moreover, dysregulated NMDAR signaling is implicated in altered mGluR-mediated LTD in *Fmr1*-KO mice (193).

Previous studies have shown abnormalities in the differentiation of NPCs propagated from human FXS fetus and ESCs, embryonic brain, and adult DG of the hippocampus of Fmr1-KO mice (21, 23-25, 44, 231). Accordingly, enhanced differentiation of cells responsive to activation of glutamate receptors was evident in human and mouse FXS NPCs. Notably, the type 2 cell population, which exhibited a prominent response to activation of both mGluR and iGluRs was increased in human and mouse FXS NPCs. In mouse neurospheres, the cell population was accumulated in zone 2 of the migration area and displayed unipolar morphology similar to that of bRG (59, 60). The bRG cells primarily reside in the oSVZ, which is present in the developing primate brain but not generally in rodent brain. Even though, rodents lack oSVZ, a small subpopulation of unipolar bRG cells reside in SVZ of mouse brain (61, 70). The aRG cell divisions can generate bRG cells in a cleavage angle-dependent manner. The vertical aRG cell divisions give rise to either a self-renewal aRG or an IP daughter cell (265, 266). In contrast, the division of aRG cells with a horizontal cleavage angle generates a self-renewed aRG that inherits apical end foot and bRG cell that inherits basal fiber (265, 266). Intriguingly, mouse aRG cells predominately divide with vertical cleavage angle, whereas human aRG cells divide both vertically and horizontally in equal proportions (265-269). These data suggest that the evolutionary shift from vertical cleavage angle to both vertical and horizontal cleavage angles of aRG cells may have contributed to the increased production of bRG and expansion of oSVZ in humans. In human FXS NPCs, DHPG-responsive RG and type 3 subpopulations that showed a substantial response to only iGluRs were increased, but remain unaltered in mouse Fmr1-KO cells. Although the 2D cell culture model has proven to be a valuable model for cellbased studies, it has its limitations. Therefore, further studies on hiPSC-derived organoid cultures are necessary to examine the altered differentiation and migration of NPCs in more physiologically relevant 3D *in vitro* model

Increased numbers of Tbr2-positive IPs in the VZ/SVZ of the embryonic brain of Fmr1-KO mice (22) suggests that loss of FMRP has a great impact on differentiation of NPCs to glutamatergic lineages. Saffary et al. showed that the absence of FMRP increases the transition of RG cells to IPs thereby causing depletion of RG in the neocortex of *Fmr1*-KO mice (233). The increased number of Tbr2-positive cells and the enhanced differentiation of mGluR/iGluR expressing cells are in line with the increased NeuroD1 expression reported in NPCs derived from rat cortex (270) and hESCs (45). NeuroD1 is an essential regulator of glutamatergic neuronal differentiation (253). During early neuronal development, the activity-dependent changes in Ca^{2+} signaling alter neurotransmitter specification (271). The work presented in this thesis demonstrates that the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ responses to high $[K^+]_e$ were significantly enhanced in Fmr1-KO NPCs. These findings implicate that activity-dependent mechanisms contribute to the altered glutamatergic differentiation of FXS NPCs. In line with the enhanced neuronal differentiation, recent studies demonstrated an increase in activity of transcription factors involved in neuronal differentiation (247) and alterations in expression of neurodevelopmental genes (235, 244). In another study, Telias et al. found that ESCs lacking FMRP display aberrances in the expression of genes critical for normal neurogenesis (231). Taken together, the data suggests that glutamatergic differentiation is accelerated in FXS human and mouse NPCs at early developmental stages.

AMPARs are essential for neuronal development, cognitive function and synaptic plasticity (272-274). The modulation of AMPAR function and trafficking is crucial for many forms of synaptic plasticity and the absence of FMRP appears to have a significant impact on AMPAR-induced synaptic strength and excitability (198, 275). The subunit composition of AMPAR is tightly regulated during development and in a cell type-dependent manner (276, 277). For instance, changes in subunit composition are involved in the developmental switch of CP-AMPARs in pyramidal neurons (278), and synapse-specific expression of CP-AMPARs exists in the neocortex (279). Functional GluA2 subunit changes have not

previously been reported in FXS, although the GluA1 and GluA2 expression is reduced in the somatosensory cortex of *Fmr1*-KO mice (208). The protein and mRNA expression levels of GluA1 are decreased in the cerebral cortex, hippocampus, and amygdala synaptosome extracts of *Fmr1*-KO mice (204, 209). Similarly, a reduction in Gria1 and Gria2 mRNA expression was seen in the prefrontal cortex of Fmr1-KO mice. GluA2 protein expression was reduced, and the normal developmental increase in Grial expression during early differentiation (77) was absent in both human and mouse FXS NPCs, suggesting that the AMPAR subunit composition is dysregulated in FXS. Using CP-AMPAR antagonist in this study resulted in a reduced proportion of GluA2-lacking AMPARs contributing to the increased Ca²⁺ permeability in human and mouse FXS NPCs. The strong inward rectification in FMRP-deficient neurospheres confirmed the delay in the switch of CP-AMPARs to CI-AMPARs in FXS. In FXS hiPSCderived neurons, dysregulated RE1 silencing transcription factor (REST) has been shown to suppress genes essential for proper neural differentiation and axon guidance (244). REST is required for repression of many synaptic genes in NPCs, out of which Gria2 is one of the primary targets (280). The increase in REST correlated with reduced GluA2 expression in FXS NPCs observed in the study. Furthermore, the absence of FMRP dysregulated the expression of several miRNAs at early NPCs differentiation, in line with the previous studies demonstrating altered miRNA expression in FXS (281). The increased miRNA expression levels of miR-181a in FXS NPCs suggested that miR-181a contributes to the posttranscriptional downregulation of GluA2 protein activity leading to increased Ca^{2+} permeability of AMPARs in FXS. In summary, this novel body of work provided a mechanistic insight into the Ca^{2+} dependent mechanisms responsible for enhanced differentiation of FXS NPCs and identified a role for dysregulated miRNAs in FXS.

9.2 Aberrant neural migration and neurite outgrowth in FXS

The migration of neurons to their target regions followed by extensions of neurites is essential for the normal formation and function of synaptic connections in the CNS. Receptor-mediated or spontaneous $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ signaling have been shown to associate with neuronal cell differentiation, migration, neurite outgrowth, and growth cone dynamics (282-286). The migration of DCX-immunoreactive cells was shown to be enhanced and motility pattern was altered in *Fmr1*-KO NPCs. In addition, neurite outgrowth in MAP2-positive cells was reduced in FXS NPCs. The FXS hiPSC-derived neuronal cells have been shown previously to display reduced neurite outgrowth and fewer number of neurites per sphere (240, 242). Treatment with Naspm reduced neurite outgrowth in both control and FXS NPCs, in line with the previous studies showing the involvement of CP-AMPARs in the regulation of neurite outgrowth (111). Even though the increased CP-AMPAR expressing cells could contribute to alterations of neurite outgrowth, other dysregulated mechanisms are likely to be involved too. For instance, GluA1 is a regulator of neuronal maturation, and its absence decreases dendritic growth (206, 287). Thus, the abnormal developmental expression pattern of *Gria1* suggests that GluA1 could contribute to the reduced neurite outgrowth in FXS NPCs.

During neurogenesis, nuclei of RG cells display periods of movements between the apical and basal surfaces termed as INM (*265, 266*). It has been speculated that the mechanisms involved in INM of vRG cells in VG are similar to the mitotic somal translocation displayed by oRG cells in oSVZ. The speed of the salutatory movements of nuclei correlate positively with the amplitude and frequency of Ca^{2+} transients changes (*288, 289*). The velocity of INM in FMRP-deficient NPCs was significantly increased during early NPCs differentiation in this study, consistent with the increased Ca^{2+} activity in FXS NPCs. The accelerated nuclear movement might increase the rate at which the progenitor cells migrate to

VZ/SVZ. Altogether, these findings support the role of Ca²⁺-dependent mechanisms on the neurite extension, migration, and nuclear movement in FXS NPCs.

9.3 tPA-mediated effects on *Fmr1*-KO neural progenitors

The expression of tPA is found in many neurons and glial cell types, including astrocytes, and microglia (*143, 290, 291*). Substantial experimental evidence demonstrates that tPA mediates neuronal migration (*292*), neurite outgrowth (*293*), and synaptic plasticity (*294*) in the CNS. Blocking tPA activity in this study normalized the enhanced migration of DCX-immunoreactive *Fmr1*-KO cells and significantly reduced the increased velocity of INM in *Fmr1*-KO cells. This data in conjunction with the published data, suggests that blocking tPA activity retards the migration of neuronal cell populations. In addition, treating *Fmr1*-KO NPCs with tPA-neutralizing antibody reduced the enhanced [Ca²⁺]_i responses to depolarization. The aberrances in RG differentiation and migration of FMRP-deficient NPCs are in line with previous studies that demonstrated RG defects in FXS (*21, 44, 233*). Furthermore, tPA colocalization with GFAP-positive cells both in NPCs and in the adult brain of *Fmr1*-KO mice implicates its possible role in RG aberrances observed/reported in FXS. It is evident that tPA is a key player for both physiological and pathological conditions in the CNS (*142*). Therefore, further studies on proteolytic and nonproteolytic functions of tPA are necessary to understand the role of tPA in the pathophysiology of FXS and its potential link to a new therapeutic target in FXS.

9.4 mGluR5-mediated effects on FMRP-deficient neural progenitors

The genetic reduction and pharmacological block of mGluR5 corrects the main phenotypes of *Fmr1*-KO mice (9, 180, 205, 214, 218, 221) confirming the crucial role of mGluR signaling in the pathophysiology of FXS. The study of Dölen et al. supported the use of mGluR antagonists for treatment of FXS by demonstrating that 50% reduction in mGluR5 protein levels corrected typical FXS phenotypic features

in mice (214). In Fmr1-KO mice, MPEP rescues the audiogenic seizure phenotype (218, 219), reduces repetitive-like behavior (219, 220), and normalizes the increased density of immature spines and excessive protein synthesis (214, 221). In this study, MPEP treatment normalized the abnormal differentiation of type 2 NPC population and the accumulation of these cells in zone 2 of Fmr1-KO neurospheres. Treatment with MPEP rescued the altered motility of neuron-like cells and morphological defects in FMRP-deficient neurospheres. Furthermore, MPEP administration at E14 normalized the total number of Tbr2-positive cells in the SVZ of Fmr1-KO mice, suggesting that by correcting the neuronal motility and glutamatergic differentiation, MPEP might have restored the balance of NPC differentiation in the brain of Fmr1-KO mice. Although similar alterations in the differentiation of glutamate-responsive cell populations were observed, MPEP exhibited differential effects on human and mouse NPCs. In contrast to mouse FXS NPCs, MPEP treatment further increased the differentiation of the type 2 cell population and reduced the type 3 subpopulation of cells in human FXS NPCs. In addition, treatment with MPEP corrected altered differentiation of a cell population that was responsive only to NMDAR activation, in line with the previous studies showing the involvement of mGluR-mediated mechanisms in dysregulated NMDA signaling (193). The alterations observed between human and mouse NPCs populations may reflect differences in the developmental processes. The period of neurogenesis is months in human and weeks in mouse, and the differentiation time point selected for investigations may represent different developmental stages in human and mouse NPCs cultures. The difference may also support the notion that the higher-order brain functions are associated with the neuronal subpopulations present in the brain of primates but not in the rat neocortex (266, 295). Despite the fact that neurospheres containing heterogonous NPC populations were used to study the altered differentiation in FXS, the origin of NPCs and the cell culturing techniques differed between human and mouse. However, the hiPSC findings presented in this thesis are in agreement with the enhanced glutamatergic signaling reported in murine models. Therefore, this thesis could be considered as a human-cell based study to understand the pathophysiology in FXS patients.

Taken together, this study puts a step forward in understanding the mechanisms involved in altered neural differentiation in FXS and emphasize the differences between human, and mouse NPCs differentiation (figure 5). The fundamental problem in pre-clinical studies is to model human disease in animals. The main cause of failed clinical trials with mGluR5 antagonists in FXS patients (*296*) might be likely because of the timing of the therapy where therapeutic interventions are targeted at too late stages when the FXS phenotypes are well established. Considering the fact that any given response in animal models does not occur in the same way in humans, the FXS-specific changes identified with hiPSC-derived NPCs will provide insights into common interventions that might alleviate the neuropathological conditions in other ASD.



Figure 5: A schematic representation summarizing the similarities and dissimilarities observed between human and mouse NPCs during differentiation of glutamate-responsive cells. Colors in boxes represent no change/normalized (green) and augmented (red). CP-AMPAR, calcium-permeable AMPA receptor; DHPG, *(S)*-3,5-dihydroxyphenylglycine; KA, kainic acid; NMDA, *N*-methyl-D-aspartate.

10. Concluding Remarks

Although extensive research has been carried out using FXS animal models, it remains unclear how FMRP regulates neurogenesis and neuronal development in humans. This thesis provides new insights into the understanding of FXS NPCs differentiation in the human context. Both human and mouse NPCs showed enhanced neuronal differentiation to glutamate-responsive cell populations. However, MPEP treatment exhibited differential effects on distinct human and mouse NPCs populations. The differences observed between human and mouse cellular models could reflect differential responses of species-specific NPCs populations or different developmental stages of NPCs. The investigation of mechanisms resulting in the enhanced differentiation of CP-AMPARs led to the clue that the increased activity of *miR-181a* might have post-transcriptionally inhibited GluA2 expression in FXS NPCs. In addition, these studies demonstrate that tPA could have a role in early RG defects observed in *Fmr1*-KO NPCs.

The initial pharmacological therapies targeting mechanisms underlying FXS focused on antagonizing mGluR5. The results were not very encouraging (296), indicating that there is a need for identification of new therapeutic targets to treat FXS. The effectiveness of therapies in humans can be improved by further understanding the molecular deregulations in FXS using human-based models and also by combining two or more drugs targeting different pathways disturbed in FXS. The findings presented here highlight the importance of studies investigating early developmental alterations and provide clues for developing new targets. Furthermore, the differences observed between human and mouse NPCs populations strongly support the use of human cells to identify molecular mechanisms involved in the pathophysiology of FXS and other related neurodevelopmental disorders.

11. References

- S. Tanabe, Signaling involved in stem cell reprogramming and differentiation. *World J. Stem Cells* 7, 992-998 (2015).
- K. Takahashi, S. Yamanaka, Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. *Cell* **126**, 663-676 (2006).
- 3. K. Takahashi, K. Tanabe, M. Ohnuki, M. Narita, T. Ichisaka, K. Tomoda, S. Yamanaka, Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. *Cell* **131**, 861-872 (2007).
- S. Yamanaka, H. M. Blau, Nuclear reprogramming to a pluripotent state by three approaches. *Nature* 465, 704-712 (2010).
- J. Yu, M. A. Vodyanik, K. Smuga-Otto, J. Antosiewicz-Bourget, J. L. Frane, S. Tian, J. Nie, G. A. Jonsdottir, V. Ruotti, R. Stewart, et al., Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. *Science* 318, 1917-1920 (2007).
- A. Urbach, O. Bar-Nur, G. Q. Daley, N. Benvenisty, Differential modeling of fragile X syndrome by human embryonic stem cells and induced pluripotent stem cells. *Cell Stem Cell* 6, 407-411 (2010).
- K. J. Brennand, A. Simone, J. Jou, C. Gelboin-Burkhart, N. Tran, S. Sangar, Y. Li, Y. Mu, G. Chen, D. Yu, S, et al., Modelling schizophrenia using human induced pluripotent stem cells. *Nature* 473, 221-225 (2011).
- J. A. Kaye, S. Finkbeiner, Modeling Huntington's disease with induced pluripotent stem cells. *Mol. Cell Neurosci.* 56, 50-64 (2013).
- 9. M. R. Santoro, S. M. Bray, S. T. Warren, Molecular Mechanisms of Fragile X Syndrome: A Twenty-Year Perspective. *Annu. Rev. Pathol.* **7**, 219-245 (2012).
- 10. R. Hagerman, G. Hoem, P. Hagerman, Fragile X and autism: Intertwined at the molecular level leading to targeted treatments. *Mol. Autism* **1**, 12 (2010).
- A. J. Verkerk, M. Pieretti, J. S. Sutcliffe, Y. H. Fu, D. P. Kuhl, A. Pizzuti, O. Reiner, S. Richards, M. F. Victoria,
 F. P. Zhang, et al., Identification of a gene (FMR-1) containing a CGG repeat coincident with a breakpoint cluster region exhibiting length variation in fragile X syndrome. *Cell* 65, 905-914 (1991).
- 12. P. Jin, S. T. Warren, Understanding the molecular basis of fragile X syndrome. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* **9**, 901-908 (2000).
- 13. C. Bagni, W. T. Greenough, From mRNP trafficking to spine dysmorphogenesis: the roots of fragile X syndrome. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* **6**, 376-387 (2005).
- 14. K. M. Huber, S. M. Gallagher, S. T. Warren, M. F. Bear, Altered synaptic plasticity in a mouse model of fragile X mental retardation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **99**, 7746-7750 (2002).
- M. F. Bear, K. M. Huber, S. T. Warren, The mGluR theory of fragile X mental retardation. *Trends Neurosci.* 27, 370-377 (2004).
- J. R. Gibson, A. F. Bartley, S. A. Hays, K. M. Huber, Imbalance of neocortical excitation and inhibition and altered UP states reflect network hyperexcitability in the mouse model of fragile X syndrome. J. Neurophysiol. 100, 2615-2626 (2008).
- J. T. Goncalves, J. E. Anstey, P. Golshani, C. Portera-Cailliau, Circuit level defects in the developing neocortex of Fragile X mice. *Nat.Neurosci.* 16, 903-909 (2013).
- M. Abitbol, C. Menini, A. L. Delezoide, T. Rhyner, M. Vekemans, J. Mallet, Nucleus basalis magnocellularis and hippocampus are the major sites of FMR-1 expression in the human fetal brain. *Nat. Genet.* 4, 147-153 (1993).
- H. L. Hinds, C. T. Ashley, J. S. Sutcliffe, D. L. Nelson, S. T. Warren, D. E. Housman, M. Schalling, Tissue specific expression of FMR-1 provides evidence for a functional role in fragile X syndrome. *Nat. Genet.* 3, 36-43 (1993).
- 20. D. Devys, Y. Lutz, N. Rouyer, J. P. Bellocq, J. L. Mandel, The FMR-1 protein is cytoplasmic, most abundant in neurons and appears normal in carriers of a fragile X premutation. *Nat. Genet.* **4**, 335-340 (1993).
- M. Castren, T. Tervonen, V. Karkkainen, S. Heinonen, E. Castren, K. Larsson, C. E. Bakker, B. A. Oostra, K. Akerman, Altered differentiation of neural stem cells in fragile X syndrome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 102, 17834-17839 (2005).
- T. A. Tervonen, V. Louhivuori, X. Sun, M. E. Hokkanen, C. F. Kratochwil, P. Zebryk, E. Castren, M. L. Castren, Aberrant differentiation of glutamatergic cells in neocortex of mouse model for fragile X syndrome. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 33, 250-259 (2009).
- Y. Luo, G. Shan, W. Guo, R. D. Smrt, E. B. Johnson, X. Li, R. L. Pfeiffer, K. E. Szulwach, R. Duan, B. Z. Barkho, et al., Fragile x mental retardation protein regulates proliferation and differentiation of adult neural stem/progenitor cells. *PLoS Genet.* 6, e1000898 (2010).
- W. Guo, A. M. Allan, R. Zong, L. Zhang, E. B. Johnson, E. G. Schaller, A. C. Murthy, S. L. Goggin, A. J. Eisch,
 B. A. Oostra, et al., Ablation of Fmrp in adult neural stem cells disrupts hippocampus-dependent learning. *Nat. Med.* 17, 559-565 (2011).
- B. D. Eadie, W. N. Zhang, F. Boehme, J. Gil-Mohapel, L. Kainer, J. M. Simpson, B. R. Christie, Fmr1 knockout mice show reduced anxiety and alterations in neurogenesis that are specific to the ventral dentate gyrus. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 36, 361-373 (2009).
- S. Mitalipov, D. Wolf, Totipotency, pluripotency and nuclear reprogramming. *Adv. Biochem. Eng. Biotechnol.* 114, 185-199 (2009).

- J. A. Thomson, J. Itskovitz-Eldor, S. S. Shapiro, M. A. Waknitz, J. J. Swiergiel, V. S. Marshall, J. M. Jones, Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. *Science* 282, 1145-1147 (1998).
- 28. H. Clevers, STEM CELLS. What is an adult stem cell? Science 350, 1319-1320 (2015).
- 29. F. H. Gage, Mammalian neural stem cells. Science 287, 1433-1438 (2000).
- J. Altman, G. D. Das, Autoradiographic and histological evidence of postnatal hippocampal neurogenesis in rats. *J. Comp. Neurol.* **124**, 319-335 (1965).
- C. Lois, A. Alvarez-Buylla, Proliferating subventricular zone cells in the adult mammalian forebrain can differentiate into neurons and glia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90, 2074-2077 (1993).
- 32. A. Alvarez-Buylla, B. Seri, F. Doetsch, Identification of neural stem cells in the adult vertebrate brain. *Brain Res. Bull.* **57**, 751-758 (2002).
- A. A. Davis, S. Temple, A self-renewing multipotential stem cell in embryonic rat cerebral cortex. *Nature* 372, 263-266 (1994).
- 34. A. L. Vescovi, E. A. Parati, A. Gritti, P. Poulin, M. Ferrario, E. Wanke, P. Frolichsthal-Schoeller, L. Cova, M. Arcellana-Panlilio, A. Colombo, et al., Isolation and cloning of multipotential stem cells from the embryonic human CNS and establishment of transplantable human neural stem cell lines by epigenetic stimulation. *Exp. Neurol.* **156**, 71-83 (1999).
- 35. G. Kempermann, H. Song, F. H. Gage, Neurogenesis in the Adult Hippocampus. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* **7**, a018812 (2015).
- A. Gritti, P. Frolichsthal-Schoeller, R. Galli, E. A. Parati, L. Cova, S. F. Pagano, C. R. Bjornson, A. L. Vescovi, Epidermal and fibroblast growth factors behave as mitogenic regulators for a single multipotent stem cell-like population from the subventricular region of the adult mouse forebrain. *J. Neurosci.* 19, 3287-3297 (1999).
- T. Seki, Y. Arai, Age-related production of new granule cells in the adult dentate gyrus. *Neuroreport* 6, 2479-2482 (1995).
- H. A. Cameron, R. D. McKay, Adult neurogenesis produces a large pool of new granule cells in the dentate gyrus. J. Comp. Neurol. 435, 406-417 (2001).
- S. Jessberger, R. E. Clark, N. J. Broadbent, G. D. Clemenson, Jr., A. Consiglio, D. C. Lie, L. R. Squire, F. H. Gage, Dentate gyrus-specific knockdown of adult neurogenesis impairs spatial and object recognition memory in adult rats. *Learn Mem.* 16, 147-154 (2009).
- 40. Y. W. Pan, G. C. Chan, C. T. Kuo, D. R. Storm, Z. Xia, Inhibition of adult neurogenesis by inducible and targeted deletion of ERK5 mitogen-activated protein kinase specifically in adult neurogenic regions impairs contextual fear extinction and remote fear memory. *J. Neurosci.* **32**, 6444-6455 (2012).

- 41. S. Jessberger, J. M. Parent, Epilepsy and Adult Neurogenesis. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 7, (2015).
- 42. L. Verret, J. L. Jankowsky, G. M. Xu, D. R. Borchelt, C. Rampon, Alzheimer's-type amyloidosis in transgenic mice impairs survival of newborn neurons derived from adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *J. Neurosci.* **27**, 6771-6780 (2007).
- B. Winner, E. Rockenstein, D. C. Lie, R. Aigner, M. Mante, U. Bogdahn, S. Couillard-Despres, E. Masliah, J. Winkler, Mutant alpha-synuclein exacerbates age-related decrease of neurogenesis. *Neurobiol. Aging* 29, 913-925 (2008).
- 44. M. L. Castren, Cortical neurogenesis in fragile X syndrome. Front. Biosci. (Schol Ed). 8, 160-168 (2016).
- O. Khalfallah, M. Jarjat, L. Davidovic, N. Nottet, S. Cestele, M. Mantegazza, B. Bardoni, Depletion of the Fragile X Mental Retardation Protein in Embryonic Stem Cells Alters the Kinetics of Neurogenesis. *Stem Cells* 35, 374-385 (2017).
- 46. B. A. Reynolds, S. Weiss, Generation of neurons and astrocytes from isolated cells of the adult mammalian central nervous system. *Science* **255**, 1707-1710 (1992).
- C. Gensburger, G. Labourdette, M. Sensenbrenner, Brain basic fibroblast growth factor stimulates the proliferation of rat neuronal precursor cells in vitro. *FEBS Lett.* **217**, 1-5 (1987).
- F. A. Azevedo, L. R. Carvalho, L. T. Grinberg, J. M. Farfel, R. E. Ferretti, R. E. Leite, W. Jacob Filho, R. Lent,
 S. Herculano-Houzel, Equal numbers of neuronal and nonneuronal cells make the human brain an isometrically scaled-up primate brain. *J. Comp. Neurol.* **513**, 532-541 (2009).
- 49. S. H. Hendry, H. D. Schwark, E. G. Jones, J. Yan, Numbers and proportions of GABA-immunoreactive neurons in different areas of monkey cerebral cortex. *J. Neurosci.* **7**, 1503-1519 (1987).
- 50. M. Gotz, W. B. Huttner, The cell biology of neurogenesis. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol. 6, 777-788 (2005).
- 51. B. P. Williams, J. Price, Evidence for multiple precursor cell types in the embryonic rat cerebral cortex. *Neuron* **14**, 1181-1188 (1995).
- 52. P. Levitt, P. Rakic, Immunoperoxidase localization of glial fibrillary acidic protein in radial glial cells and astrocytes of the developing rhesus monkey brain. *J. Comp. Neurol.* **193**, 815-840 (1980).
- 53. E. Hartfuss, R. Galli, N. Heins, M. Gotz, Characterization of CNS precursor subtypes and radial glia. *Dev. Biol.* **229**, 15-30 (2001).
- N. Zecevic, Y. Chen, R. Filipovic, Contributions of cortical subventricular zone to the development of the human cerebral cortex. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 491, 109-122 (2005).
- R. S. Cameron, P. Rakic, Glial cell lineage in the cerebral cortex: a review and synthesis. *Glia* 4, 124-137 (1991).
- 56. M. Bentivoglio, P. Mazzarello, The history of radial glia. Brain Res. Bull. 49, 305-315 (1999).

- 57. T. F. Haydar, E. Ang, Jr., P. Rakic, Mitotic spindle rotation and mode of cell division in the developing telencephalon. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **100**, 2890-2895 (2003).
- 58. W. B. Huttner, Y. Kosodo, Symmetric versus asymmetric cell division during neurogenesis in the developing vertebrate central nervous system. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* **17**, 648-657 (2005).
- 59. S. C. Noctor, A. C. Flint, T. A. Weissman, R. S. Dammerman, A. R. Kriegstein, Neurons derived from radial glial cells establish radial units in neocortex. *Nature* **409**, 714-720 (2001).
- 60. S. C. Noctor, V. Martinez-Cerdeno, L. Ivic, A. R. Kriegstein, Cortical neurons arise in symmetric and asymmetric division zones and migrate through specific phases. *Nat. Neurosci.* **7**, 136-144 (2004).
- 61. A. Shitamukai, D. Konno, F. Matsuzaki, Oblique radial glial divisions in the developing mouse neocortex induce self-renewing progenitors outside the germinal zone that resemble primate outer subventricular zone progenitors. *J. Neurosci.* **31**, 3683-3695 (2011).
- 62. T. Miyata, A. Kawaguchi, K. Saito, M. Kawano, T. Muto, M. Ogawa, Asymmetric production of surfacedividing and non-surface-dividing cortical progenitor cells. *Development* **131**, 3133-3145 (2004).
- W. Haubensak, A. Attardo, W. Denk, W. B. Huttner, Neurons arise in the basal neuroepithelium of the early mammalian telencephalon: a major site of neurogenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 101, 3196-3201 (2004).
- M. Nieto, E. S. Monuki, H. Tang, J. Imitola, N. Haubst, S. J. Khoury, J. Cunningham, M. Gotz, C. A. Walsh, Expression of Cux-1 and Cux-2 in the subventricular zone and upper layers II-IV of the cerebral cortex. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 479, 168-180 (2004).
- C. Englund, A. Fink, C. Lau, D. Pham, R. A. Daza, A. Bulfone, T. Kowalczyk, R. F. Hevner, Pax6, Tbr2, and Tbr1 are expressed sequentially by radial glia, intermediate progenitor cells, and postmitotic neurons in developing neocortex. J. Neurosci. 25, 247-251 (2005).
- J. S. Gal, Y. M. Morozov, A. E. Ayoub, M. Chatterjee, P. Rakic, T. F. Haydar, Molecular and morphological heterogeneity of neural precursors in the mouse neocortical proliferative zones. *J. Neurosci.* 26, 1045-1056 (2006).
- E. K. Stancik, I. Navarro-Quiroga, R. Sellke, T. F. Haydar, Heterogeneity in ventricular zone neural precursors contributes to neuronal fate diversity in the postnatal neocortex. *J. Neurosci.* **30**, 7028-7036 (2010).
- D. V. Hansen, J. H. Lui, P. R. Parker, A. R. Kriegstein, Neurogenic radial glia in the outer subventricular zone of human neocortex. *Nature* 464, 554-561 (2010).

- S. A. Fietz, I. Kelava, J. Vogt, M. Wilsch-Brauninger, D. Stenzel, J. L. Fish, D. Corbeil, A. Riehn, W. Distler,
 R. Nitsch, et al., OSVZ progenitors of human and ferret neocortex are epithelial-like and expand by integrin signaling. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 690-699 (2010).
- X. Wang, J. W. Tsai, B. LaMonica, A. R. Kriegstein, A new subtype of progenitor cell in the mouse embryonic neocortex. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 555-561 (2011).
- J. H. Lui, D. V. Hansen, A. R. Kriegstein, Development and evolution of the human neocortex. *Cell* 146, 18-36 (2011).
- 72. V. Martinez-Cerdeno, S. C. Noctor, A. R. Kriegstein, The role of intermediate progenitor cells in the evolutionary expansion of the cerebral cortex. *Cerebral Cortex* **16 Suppl 1**, i152-161 (2006).
- M. B. Luskin, C. J. Shatz, Studies of the earliest generated cells of the cat's visual cortex: cogeneration of subplate and marginal zones. *J. Neurosci.* 5, 1062-1075 (1985).
- 74. R. Ayala, T. Shu, L. H. Tsai, Trekking across the brain: the journey of neuronal migration. *Cell* **128**, 29-43 (2007).
- 75. J. B. Jensen, M. Parmar, Strengths and limitations of the neurosphere culture system. *Mol. Neurobiol.* **34**, 153-161 (2006).
- L. C. Jansson, L. Louhivuori, H. K. Wigren, T. Nordstrom, V. Louhivuori, M. L. Castren, K. E. Akerman, Effect of glutamate receptor antagonists on migrating neural progenitor cells. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* **37**, 1369-1382 (2013).
- L. C. Jansson, H. K. Wigren, T. Nordstrom, K. E. Akerman, Functional alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid receptors in differentiating embryonic neural progenitor cells. *Neuroreport* 22, 282-287 (2011).
- M. A. Caldwell, X. He, N. Wilkie, S. Pollack, G. Marshall, K. A. Wafford, C. N. Svendsen, Growth factors regulate the survival and fate of cells derived from human neurospheres. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 19, 475-479 (2001).
- R. Nat, M. Nilbratt, S. Narkilahti, B. Winblad, O. Hovatta, A. Nordberg, Neurogenic neuroepithelial and radial glial cells generated from six human embryonic stem cell lines in serum-free suspension and adherent cultures. *Glia* 55, 385-399 (2007).
- M. K. Carpenter, X. Cui, Z. Y. Hu, J. Jackson, S. Sherman, A. Seiger, L. U. Wahlberg, In vitro expansion of a multipotent population of human neural progenitor cells. *Exp. Neurol.* **158**, 265-278 (1999).
- Q. Shen, Y. Wang, J. T. Dimos, C. A. Fasano, T. N. Phoenix, I. R. Lemischka, N. B. Ivanova, S. Stifani, E. E. Morrisey, S. Temple, The timing of cortical neurogenesis is encoded within lineages of individual progenitor cells. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 743-751 (2006).

- M. Brini, T. Cali, D. Ottolini, E. Carafoli, Intracellular calcium homeostasis and signaling. *Met. Ions Life Sci.* 12, 119-168 (2013).
- 83. M. J. Berridge, M. D. Bootman, P. Lipp, Calcium--a life and death signal. Nature 395, 645-648 (1998).
- C. W. Heizmann, W. Hunziker, Intracellular calcium-binding proteins: more sites than insights. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 16, 98-103 (1991).
- M. J. Berridge, M. D. Bootman, H. L. Roderick, Calcium signalling: dynamics, homeostasis and remodelling. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 4, 517-529 (2003).
- 86. A. Verkhratsky, Calcium ions and integration in neural circuits. ActaPhysiol. (Oxf). 187, 357-369 (2006).
- 87. B. Mellstrom, M. Savignac, R. Gomez-Villafuertes, J. R. Naranjo, Ca2+-operated transcriptional networks: molecular mechanisms and in vivo models. *Physiol. Rev.* **88**, 421-449 (2008).
- 88. M. J. Berridge, Neuronal calcium signaling. *Neuron* **21**, 13-26 (1998).
- R. Dingledine, K. Borges, D. Bowie, S. F. Traynelis, The glutamate receptor ion channels. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 51, 7-61 (1999).
- 90. M. P. Mattson, Glutamate and neurotrophic factors in neuronal plasticity and disease. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* **1144**, 97-112 (2008).
- H. A. Cameron, T. G. Hazel, R. D. McKay, Regulation of neurogenesis by growth factors and neurotransmitters. J. Neurobiol. 36, 287-306 (1998).
- L. Nguyen, J. M. Rigo, V. Rocher, S. Belachew, B. Malgrange, B. Rogister, P. Leprince, G. Moonen, Neurotransmitters as early signals for central nervous system development. *Cell Tissue Res.* 305, 187-202 (2001).
- 93. R. Lujan, R. Shigemoto, G. Lopez-Bendito, Glutamate and GABA receptor signalling in the developing brain. *Neuroscience* **130**, 567-580 (2005).
- N. Kunishima, Y. Shimada, Y. Tsuji, T. Sato, M. Yamamoto, T. Kumasaka, S. Nakanishi, H. Jingami, K. Morikawa, Structural basis of glutamate recognition by a dimeric metabotropic glutamate receptor. *Nature* 407, 971-977 (2000).
- 95. T. Sato, Y. Shimada, N. Nagasawa, S. Nakanishi, H. Jingami, Amino acid mutagenesis of the ligand binding site and the dimer interface of the metabotropic glutamate receptor 1. Identification of crucial residues for setting the activated state. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 4314-4321 (2003).
- 96. R. Enz, Structure of metabotropic glutamate receptor C-terminal domains in contact with interacting proteins. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* **5**, 52 (2012).
- 97. M. Hollmann, S. Heinemann, Cloned glutamate receptors. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 17, 31-108 (1994).

- J. N. Kew, J. A. Kemp, lonotropic and metabotropic glutamate receptor structure and pharmacology. *Psychopharmacology* **179**, 4-29 (2005).
- M. J. Niciu, B. Kelmendi, G. Sanacora, Overview of glutamatergic neurotransmission in the nervous system. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 100, 656-664 (2012).
- A. Baude, Z. Nusser, J. D. Roberts, E. Mulvihill, R. A. McIlhinney, P. Somogyi, The metabotropic glutamate receptor (mGluR1 alpha) is concentrated at perisynaptic membrane of neuronal subpopulations as detected by immunogold reaction. *Neuron* **11**, 771-787 (1993).
- R. Lujan, J. D. Roberts, R. Shigemoto, H. Ohishi, P. Somogyi, Differential plasma membrane distribution of metabotropic glutamate receptors mGluR1 alpha, mGluR2 and mGluR5, relative to neurotransmitter release sites. *J. Chem. Neuroanat.* 13, 219-241 (1997).
- 102. J. N. Kew, M. C. Pflimlin, J. A. Kemp, V. Mutel, Differential regulation of synaptic transmission by mGlu2 and mGlu3 at the perforant path inputs to the dentate gyrus and CA1 revealed in mGlu2 -/- mice. *Neuropharmacology* **43**, 215-221 (2002).
- R. Shigemoto, A. Kinoshita, E. Wada, S. Nomura, H. Ohishi, M. Takada, P. J. Flor, A. Neki, T. Abe, S. Nakanishi, et al., Differential presynaptic localization of metabotropic glutamate receptor subtypes in the rat hippocampus. *J. Neurosci.* 17, 7503-7522 (1997).
- 104. T. Takahashi, I. D. Forsythe, T. Tsujimoto, M. Barnes-Davies, K. Onodera, Presynaptic calcium current modulation by a metabotropic glutamate receptor. *Science* **274**, 594-597 (1996).
- 105. J. P. Pin, T. Galvez, L. Prezeau, Evolution, structure, and activation mechanism of family 3/C G-proteincoupled receptors. *Pharmacol. Ther.* **98**, 325-354 (2003).
- S. F. Traynelis, L. P. Wollmuth, C. J. McBain, F. S. Menniti, K. M. Vance, K. K. Ogden, K. B. Hansen, H. Yuan,
 S. J. Myers, R. Dingledine, Glutamate receptor ion channels: structure, regulation, and function. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 62, 405-496 (2010).
- G. L. Collingridge, R. W. Olsen, J. Peters, M. Spedding, A nomenclature for ligand-gated ion channels. *Neuropharmacology* 56, 2-5 (2009).
- B. Sommer, K. Keinanen, T. A. Verdoorn, W. Wisden, N. Burnashev, A. Herb, M. Kohler, T. Takagi, B. Sakmann, P. H. Seeburg, Flip and flop: a cell-specific functional switch in glutamate-operated channels of the CNS. *Science* 249, 1580-1585 (1990).
- N. Burnashev, Z. Zhou, E. Neher, B. Sakmann, Fractional calcium currents through recombinant GluR channels of the NMDA, AMPA and kainate receptor subtypes. *J. Physiol.* 485 (Pt 2), 403-418 (1995).

- J. R. Geiger, T. Melcher, D. S. Koh, B. Sakmann, P. H. Seeburg, P. Jonas, H. Monyer, Relative abundance of subunit mRNAs determines gating and Ca2+ permeability of AMPA receptors in principal neurons and interneurons in rat CNS. *Neuron* 15, 193-204 (1995).
- N. P. Whitney, H. Peng, N. B. Erdmann, C. Tian, D. T. Monaghan, J. C. Zheng, Calcium-permeable AMPA receptors containing Q/R-unedited GluR2 direct human neural progenitor cell differentiation to neurons. *FASEB J.* 22, 2888-2900 (2008).
- M. Higuchi, S. Maas, F. N. Single, J. Hartner, A. Rozov, N. Burnashev, D. Feldmeyer, R. Sprengel, P. H. Seeburg, Point mutation in an AMPA receptor gene rescues lethality in mice deficient in the RNA-editing enzyme ADAR2. *Nature* 406, 78-81 (2000).
- 113. I. H. Greger, L. Khatri, E. B. Ziff, RNA editing at arg607 controls AMPA receptor exit from the endoplasmic reticulum. *Neuron* **34**, 759-772 (2002).
- 114. J. D. Shepherd, R. L. Huganir, The cell biology of synaptic plasticity: AMPA receptor trafficking. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 23, 613-643 (2007).
- 115. H. W. Kessels, R. Malinow, Synaptic AMPA receptor plasticity and behavior. *Neuron* 61, 340-350 (2009).
- A. Alt, B. Weiss, A. M. Ogden, J. L. Knauss, J. Oler, K. Ho, T. H. Large, D. Bleakman, Pharmacological characterization of glutamatergic agonists and antagonists at recombinant human homomeric and heteromeric kainate receptors in vitro. *Neuropharmacology* 46, 793-806 (2004).
- 117. J. Lerma, A. V. Paternain, A. Rodriguez-Moreno, J. C. Lopez-Garcia, Molecular physiology of kainate receptors. *Physiol. Rev.* **81**, 971-998 (2001).
- 118. M. L. Mayer, Glutamate receptor ion channels. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 15, 282-288 (2005).
- 119. D. K. Patneau, M. L. Mayer, D. E. Jane, J. C. Watkins, Activation and desensitization of AMPA/kainate receptors by novel derivatives of willardiine. *J. Neurosci.* **12**, 595-606 (1992).
- H. Monyer, R. Sprengel, R. Schoepfer, A. Herb, M. Higuchi, H. Lomeli, N. Burnashev, B. Sakmann, P. H. Seeburg, Heteromeric NMDA receptors: molecular and functional distinction of subtypes. *Science* 256, 1217-1221 (1992).
- J. J. Krupp, B. Vissel, S. F. Heinemann, G. L. Westbrook, N-terminal domains in the NR2 subunit control desensitization of NMDA receptors. *Neuron* 20, 317-327 (1998).
- N. W. Kleckner, R. Dingledine, Requirement for glycine in activation of NMDA-receptors expressed in Xenopus oocytes. *Science* 241, 835-837 (1988).
- 123. V. R. Rao, S. Finkbeiner, NMDA and AMPA receptors: old channels, new tricks. *Trends Neurosci.* **30**, 284-291 (2007).

- 124. K. Schlett, Glutamate as a modulator of embryonic and adult neurogenesis. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.* **6**, 949-960 (2006).
- K. Keinanen, W. Wisden, B. Sommer, P. Werner, A. Herb, T. A. Verdoorn, B. Sakmann, P. H. Seeburg, A family of AMPA-selective glutamate receptors. *Science* 249, 556-560 (1990).
- J. J. LoTurco, M. G. Blanton, A. R. Kriegstein, Initial expression and endogenous activation of NMDA channels in early neocortical development. *J. Neurosci.* 11, 792-799 (1991).
- 127. T. N. Behar, C. A. Scott, C. L. Greene, X. Wen, S. V. Smith, D. Maric, Q. Y. Liu, C. A. Colton, J. L. Barker, Glutamate acting at NMDA receptors stimulates embryonic cortical neuronal migration. *J. Neurosci.* 19, 4449-4461 (1999).
- 128. J. B. Manent, M. Demarque, I. Jorquera, C. Pellegrino, Y. Ben-Ari, L. Aniksztejn, A. Represa, A noncanonical release of GABA and glutamate modulates neuronal migration. *J. Neurosci.* **25**, 4755-4765 (2005).
- 129. L. C. Jansson, L. Louhivuori, H. K. Wigren, T. Nordstrom, V. Louhivuori, M. L. Castren, K. E. Akerman, Brainderived neurotrophic factor increases the motility of a particular N-methyl-D-aspartate /GABAresponsive subset of neural progenitor cells. *Neuroscience* **224**, 223-234 (2012).
- 130. O. P. Voss, S. Milne, J. Sharkey, M. J. O'Neill, J. McCulloch, Molecular mechanisms of neurite growth with AMPA receptor potentiation. *Neuropharmacology* **52**, 590-597 (2007).
- V. D. Di Giorgi Gerevini, A. Caruso, I. Cappuccio, L. Ricci Vitiani, S. Romeo, C. Della Rocca, R. Gradini, D. Melchiorri, F. Nicoletti, The mGlu5 metabotropic glutamate receptor is expressed in zones of active neurogenesis of the embryonic and postnatal brain. *Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res.* 150, 17-22 (2004).
- 132. V. Di Giorgi-Gerevini, D. Melchiorri, G. Battaglia, L. Ricci-Vitiani, C. Ciceroni, C. L. Busceti, F. Biagioni, L. lacovelli, A. M. Canudas, E. Parati, et al., Endogenous activation of metabotropic glutamate receptors supports the proliferation and survival of neural progenitor cells. *Cell Death Differ.* **12**, 1124-1133 (2005).
- L. Zhao, Q. Jiao, X. Chen, P. Yang, B. Zhao, P. Zheng, Y. Liu, mGluR5 is involved in proliferation of rat neural progenitor cells exposed to hypoxia with activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway. *J. Neurosci. Res.* **90**, 447-460 (2012).
- 134. L. Zhao, Q. Jiao, P. Yang, X. Chen, J. Zhang, B. Zhao, P. Zheng, Y. Liu, Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 promotes proliferation of human neural stem/progenitor cells with activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases signaling pathway in vitro. *Neuroscience* **192**, 185-194 (2011).
- T. Yoshimizu, S. Chaki, Increased cell proliferation in the adult mouse hippocampus following chronic administration of group II metabotropic glutamate receptor antagonist, MGS0039. *Biochem. Biophy. Res. Commun.* **315**, 493-496 (2004).

- A. C. Vernon, E. J. Smith, L. Stevanato, M. Modo, Selective activation of metabotropic glutamate receptor
 7 induces inhibition of cellular proliferation and promotes astrocyte differentiation of ventral mesencephalon human neural stem/progenitor cells. *Neurochem. Int.* 59, 421-431 (2011).
- 137. C. Y. Brazel, J. L. Nunez, Z. Yang, S. W. Levison, Glutamate enhances survival and proliferation of neural progenitors derived from the subventricular zone. *Neuroscience* **131**, 55-65 (2005).
- Y. Tian, Y. Liu, X. Chen, Q. Kang, J. Zhang, Q. Shi, H. Zhang, AMN082 promotes the proliferation and differentiation of neural progenitor cells with influence on phosphorylation of MAPK signaling pathways. *Neurochem. Int.* 57, 8-15 (2010).
- 139. D. C. Rijken, H. R. Lijnen, New insights into the molecular mechanisms of the fibrinolytic system. *J. Thromb. Haemost.* **7**, 4-13 (2009).
- 140. D. Collen, H. R. Lijnen, The tissue-type plasminogen activator story. *Arterioscler Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* **29**, 1151-1155 (2009).
- R. L. Medcalf, S. M. Davis, Plasminogen activation and thrombolysis for ischemic stroke. *Int. J. Stroke* 7, 419-425 (2012).
- 142. J. P. Melchor, S. Strickland, Tissue plasminogen activator in central nervous system physiology and pathology. *Thromb. Haemost.* **93**, 655-660 (2005).
- 143. S. E. Tsirka, A. Gualandris, D. G. Amaral, S. Strickland, Excitotoxin-induced neuronal degeneration and seizure are mediated by tissue plasminogen activator. *Nature* **377**, 340-344 (1995).
- T. Teesalu, A. Kulla, A. Simisker, V. Siren, D. A. Lawrence, T. Asser, A. Vaheri, Tissue plasminogen activator and neuroserpin are widely expressed in the human central nervous system. *Thromb. Haemost.* 92, 358-368 (2004).
- P. T. Pang, H. K. Teng, E. Zaitsev, N. T. Woo, K. Sakata, S. Zhen, K. K. Teng, W. H. Yung, B. L. Hempstead,
 B. Lu, Cleavage of proBDNF by tPA/plasmin is essential for long-term hippocampal plasticity. *Science* 306, 487-491 (2004).
- 146. O. Nicole, F. Docagne, C. Ali, I. Margaill, P. Carmeliet, E. T. MacKenzie, D. Vivien, A. Buisson, The proteolytic activity of tissue-plasminogen activator enhances NMDA receptor-mediated signaling. *Nat. Med.* 7, 59-64 (2001).
- 147. T. Matys, S. Strickland, Tissue plasminogen activator and NMDA receptor cleavage. *Nat. Med.* **9**, 371-372; 372-373 (2003).
- 148. A. L. Samson, S. T. Nevin, D. Croucher, B. Niego, P. B. Daniel, T. W. Weiss, E. Moreno, D. Monard, D. A. Lawrence, R. L. Medcalf, Tissue-type plasminogen activator requires a co-receptor to enhance NMDA receptor function. J. Neurochem. 107, 1091-1101 (2008).

- 149. M. Fernandez-Monreal, J. P. Lopez-Atalaya, K. Benchenane, M. Cacquevel, F. Dulin, J. P. Le Caer, J. Rossier, A. C. Jarrige, E. T. Mackenzie, N. Colloc'h, et al., Arginine 260 of the amino-terminal domain of NR1 subunit is critical for tissue-type plasminogen activator-mediated enhancement of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor signaling. J. Biol.Chem. 279, 50850-50856 (2004).
- H. Yuan, K. M. Vance, C. E. Junge, M. T. Geballe, J. P. Snyder, J. R. Hepler, M. Yepes, C. M. Low, S. F. Traynelis, The serine protease plasmin cleaves the amino-terminal domain of the NR2A subunit to relieve zinc inhibition of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. *J. Biol.Chem.* 284, 12862-12873 (2009).
- 151. K. S. Ng, H. W. Leung, P. T. Wong, C. M. Low, Cleavage of the NR2B subunit amino terminus of N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor by tissue plasminogen activator: identification of the cleavage site and characterization of ifenprodil and glycine affinities on truncated NMDA receptor. J. Biol.Chem. 287, 25520-25529 (2012).
- Y. Tay, L. Kats, L. Salmena, D. Weiss, S. M. Tan, U. Ala, F. Karreth, L. Poliseno, P. Provero, F. Di Cunto, et al., Coding-independent regulation of the tumor suppressor PTEN by competing endogenous mRNAs. *Cell* 147, 344-357 (2011).
- 153. R. C. Lee, R. L. Feinbaum, V. Ambros, The C. elegans heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. *Cell* **75**, 843-854 (1993).
- 154. R. C. Friedman, K. K. Farh, C. B. Burge, D. P. Bartel, Most mammalian mRNAs are conserved targets of microRNAs. *Genome Res.* **19**, 92-105 (2009).
- 155. H. W. Hwang, J. T. Mendell, MicroRNAs in cell proliferation, cell death, and tumorigenesis. *Br. J. Cancer* 94, 776-780 (2006).
- 156. B. Xu, M. Karayiorgou, J. A. Gogos, MicroRNAs in psychiatric and neurodevelopmental disorders. *Brain Res.* **1338**, 78-88 (2010).
- 157. B. Simonson, S. Das, MicroRNA Therapeutics: the Next Magic Bullet? *Mini Rev. Med. Chem.* **15**, 467-474 (2015).
- 158. T. Wang, S. M. Bray, S. T. Warren, New perspectives on the biology of fragile X syndrome. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* **22**, 256-263 (2012).
- 159. F. Tassone, Newborn screening for fragile X syndrome. JAMA Neurol. 71, 355-359 (2014).
- 160. D. B. Bailey, Jr., M. Raspa, E. Bishop, D. Holiday, No change in the age of diagnosis for fragile x syndrome: findings from a national parent survey. *Pediatrics* **124**, 527-533 (2009).
- 161. O. Penagarikano, J. G. Mulle, S. T. Warren, The pathophysiology of fragile x syndrome. *Annu. Rev. Genomics Hum. Genet.* **8**, 109-129 (2007).
- 162. K. B. Garber, J. Visootsak, S. T. Warren, Fragile X syndrome. Eur. J. Hum. Genet. 16, 666-672 (2008).

- 163. R. J. Hagerman, V. Des-Portes, F. Gasparini, S. Jacquemont, B. Gomez-Mancilla, Translating molecular advances in fragile X syndrome into therapy: a review. *J. Clin. Psychiatry* **75**, e294-307 (2014).
- 164. J. P. Martin, J. Bell, A Pedigree of Mental Defect Showing Sex-Linkage. *J. Neuro. Psychiatry* **6**, 154-157 (1943).
- 165. H. A. Lubs, A marker X chromosome. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* **21**, 231-244 (1969).
- 166. G. R. Sutherland, Fragile sites on human chromosomes: demonstration of their dependence on the type of tissue culture medium. *Science* **197**, 265-266 (1977).
- 167. C. J. Harrison, E. M. Jack, T. D. Allen, R. Harris, The fragile X: a scanning electron microscope study. *J. Med. Genet.* **20**, 280-285 (1983).
- Y. H. Fu, D. P. Kuhl, A. Pizzuti, M. Pieretti, J. S. Sutcliffe, S. Richards, A. J. Verkerk, J. J. Holden, R. G. Fenwick, Jr., S. T. Warren, et al., Variation of the CGG repeat at the fragile X site results in genetic instability: resolution of the Sherman paradox. *Cell* 67, 1047-1058 (1991).
- S. Jacquemont, R. J. Hagerman, M. Leehey, J. Grigsby, L. Zhang, J. A. Brunberg, C. Greco, V. Des Portes, T. Jardini, R. Levine, et al., Hagerman, Fragile X premutation tremor/ataxia syndrome: molecular, clinical, and neuroimaging correlates. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* **72**, 869-878 (2003).
- 170. A. K. Sullivan, M. Marcus, M. P. Epstein, E. G. Allen, A. E. Anido, J. J. Paquin, M. Yadav-Shah, S. L. Sherman, Association of FMR1 repeat size with ovarian dysfunction. *Hum. Reprod.* **20**, 402-412 (2005).
- 171. F. Tassone, A. Beilina, C. Carosi, S. Albertosi, C. Bagni, L. Li, K. Glover, D. Bentley, P. J. Hagerman, Elevated FMR1 mRNA in premutation carriers is due to increased transcription. *RNA* **13**, 555-562 (2007).
- R. A. Saul, J. C. Tarleton, M. P. Adam, H. H. Ardinger, R. A. Pagon, S. E. Wallace, L. J. H. Bean, H. C. Mefford,
 K. Stephens, A. Amemiya, N. Ledbetter, *FMR1*-Related Disorders. Eds. (Seattle (WA), (1993).
- S. L. Nolin, W. T. Brown, A. Glicksman, G. E. Houck, Jr., A. D. Gargano, A. Sullivan, V. Biancalana, K. Brondum-Nielsen, H. Hjalgrim, E. Holinski-Feder, et al., Expansion of the fragile X CGG repeat in females with premutation or intermediate alleles. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* **72**, 454-464 (2003).
- 174. Y. Feng, C. A. Gutekunst, D. E. Eberhart, H. Yi, S. T. Warren, S. M. Hersch, Fragile X mental retardation protein: nucleocytoplasmic shuttling and association with somatodendritic ribosomes. *J. Neurosci.* **17**, 1539-1547 (1997).
- I. J. Weiler, S. A. Irwin, A. Y. Klintsova, C. M. Spencer, A. D. Brazelton, K. Miyashiro, T. A. Comery, B. Patel,
 J. Eberwine, W. T. Greenough, Fragile X mental retardation protein is translated near synapses in response to neurotransmitter activation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94, 5395-5400 (1997).
- 176. M. R. Akins, H. E. Berk-Rauch, J. R. Fallon, Presynaptic translation: stepping out of the postsynaptic shadow. *Front. Neural Circuits* **3**, 17 (2009).

- 177. S. B. Christie, M. R. Akins, J. E. Schwob, J. R. Fallon, The FXG: a presynaptic fragile X granule expressed in a subset of developing brain circuits. *J. Neurosci.* **29**, 1514-1524 (2009).
- 178. S. Gholizadeh, S. K. Halder, D. R. Hampson, Expression of fragile X mental retardation protein in neurons and glia of the developing and adult mouse brain. *Brain Res.* **1596**, 22-30 (2015).
- 179. D. E. Eberhart, H. E. Malter, Y. Feng, S. T. Warren, The fragile X mental retardation protein is a ribonucleoprotein containing both nuclear localization and nuclear export signals. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* **5**, 1083-1091 (1996).
- G. J. Bassell, S. T. Warren, Fragile X syndrome: loss of local mRNA regulation alters synaptic development and function. *Neuron* 60, 201-214 (2008).
- C. T. Ashley, Jr., K. D. Wilkinson, D. Reines, S. T. Warren, FMR1 protein: conserved RNP family domains and selective RNA binding. *Science* 262, 563-566 (1993).
- L. K. Myrick, H. Hashimoto, X. Cheng, S. T. Warren, Human FMRP contains an integral tandem Agenet (Tudor) and KH motif in the amino terminal domain. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 24, 1733-1740 (2015).
- J. C. Darnell, E. Klann, The translation of translational control by FMRP: therapeutic targets for FXS. *Nat. Neurosci.* 16, 1530-1536 (2013).
- J. C. Darnell, S. J. Van Driesche, C. Zhang, K. Y. Hung, A. Mele, C. E. Fraser, E. F. Stone, C. Chen, J. J. Fak, S. W. Chi, et al., FMRP stalls ribosomal translocation on mRNAs linked to synaptic function and autism. *Cell* 146, 247-261 (2011).
- C. Portera-Cailliau, Which comes first in fragile X syndrome, dendritic spine dysgenesis or defects in circuit plasticity? *Neuroscientist* 18, 28-44 (2012).
- Fmr1 knockout mice: a model to study fragile X mental retardation. The Dutch-Belgian Fragile X Consortium. *Cell* 78, 23-33 (1994).
- C. T. Ashley, J. S. Sutcliffe, C. B. Kunst, H. A. Leiner, E. E. Eichler, D. L. Nelson, S. T. Warren, Human and murine FMR-1: alternative splicing and translational initiation downstream of the CGG-repeat. *Nat. Genet.* 4, 244-251 (1993).
- A. W. Grossman, G. M. Aldridge, I. J. Weiler, W. T. Greenough, Local protein synthesis and spine morphogenesis: Fragile X syndrome and beyond. *J. Neurosci.* 26, 7151-7155 (2006).
- C. Dobkin, A. Rabe, R. Dumas, A. El Idrissi, H. Haubenstock, W. T. Brown, Fmr1 knockout mouse has a distinctive strain-specific learning impairment. *Neuroscience* **100**, 423-429 (2000).
- F. Zalfa, M. Giorgi, B. Primerano, A. Moro, A. Di Penta, S. Reis, B. Oostra, C. Bagni, The fragile X syndrome protein FMRP associates with BC1 RNA and regulates the translation of specific mRNAs at synapses. *Cell* 112, 317-327 (2003).

- 191. R. S. Muddashetty, S. Kelic, C. Gross, M. Xu, G. J. Bassell, Dysregulated metabotropic glutamate receptordependent translation of AMPA receptor and postsynaptic density-95 mRNAs at synapses in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *J. Neurosci.* **27**, 5338-5348 (2007).
- F. Bordi, A. Ugolini, Group I metabotropic glutamate receptors: implications for brain diseases. *Prog. Neurobio.* 59, 55-79 (1999).
- 193. A. K. Toft, C. J. Lundbye, T. G. Banke, Dysregulated NMDA-Receptor Signaling Inhibits Long-Term Depression in a Mouse Model of Fragile X Syndrome. *J. Neurosci.* **36**, 9817-9827 (2016).
- 194. T. Yang, H. Zhao, C. Lu, X. Li, Y. Xie, H. Fu, H. Xu, Synaptic Plasticity, a Prominent Contributor to the Anxiety in Fragile X Syndrome. *Neural Plast.* **2016**, 9353929 (2016).
- 195. E. M. Snyder, B. D. Philpot, K. M. Huber, X. Dong, J. R. Fallon, M. F. Bear, Internalization of ionotropic glutamate receptors in response to mGluR activation. *Nat. Neurosci.* **4**, 1079-1085 (2001).
- 196. M. Y. Xiao, B. Gustafsson, Y. P. Niu, Metabotropic glutamate receptors in the trafficking of ionotropic glutamate and GABA(A) receptors at central synapses. *Curr. Neuropharmacol.* **4**, 77-86 (2006).
- 197. H. Wang, S. S. Kim, M. Zhuo, Roles of fragile X mental retardation protein in dopaminergic stimulationinduced synapse-associated protein synthesis and subsequent alpha-amino-3-hydroxyl-5-methyl-4isoxazole-4-propionate (AMPA) receptor internalization. *J. Biol. Chem.* **285**, 21888-21901 (2010).
- G. Uzunova, E. Hollander, J. Shepherd, The role of ionotropic glutamate receptors in childhood neurodevelopmental disorders: autism spectrum disorders and fragile X syndrome. *Curr. Neuropharmacol.* 12, 71-98 (2014).
- 199. S. C. Chuang, W. Zhao, R. Bauchwitz, Q. Yan, R. Bianchi, R. K. Wong, Prolonged epileptiform discharges induced by altered group I metabotropic glutamate receptor-mediated synaptic responses in hippocampal slices of a fragile X mouse model. J. Neurosci. 25, 8048-8055 (2005).
- E. D. Nosyreva, K. M. Huber, Metabotropic receptor-dependent long-term depression persists in the absence of protein synthesis in the mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *J. Neurophysiol.* 95, 3291-3295 (2006).
- 201. J. A. Ronesi, K. M. Huber, Metabotropic glutamate receptors and fragile x mental retardation protein: partners in translational regulation at the synapse. *Sci. Signal.* **1**, pe6 (2008).
- Y. Zhang, D. V. Venkitaramani, C. M. Gladding, Y. Zhang, P. Kurup, E. Molnar, G. L. Collingridge, P. J. Lombroso, The tyrosine phosphatase STEP mediates AMPA receptor endocytosis after metabotropic glutamate receptor stimulation. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 10561-10566 (2008).

- S. Park, J. M. Park, S. Kim, J. A. Kim, J. D. Shepherd, C. L. Smith-Hicks, S. Chowdhury, W. Kaufmann, D. Kuhl, A. G. Ryazanov, et al., Elongation factor 2 and fragile X mental retardation protein control the dynamic translation of Arc/Arg3.1 essential for mGluR-LTD. *Neuron* 59, 70-83 (2008).
- J. Li, M. R. Pelletier, J. L. Perez Velazquez, P. L. Carlen, Reduced cortical synaptic plasticity and GluR1 expression associated with fragile X mental retardation protein deficiency. *Mol. Cell Neurosci.* 19, 138-151 (2002).
- M. Nakamoto, V. Nalavadi, M. P. Epstein, U. Narayanan, G. J. Bassell, S. T. Warren, Fragile X mental retardation protein deficiency leads to excessive mGluR5-dependent internalization of AMPA receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 104, 15537-15542 (2007).
- W. Guo, E. D. Polich, J. Su, Y. Gao, D. M. Christopher, A. M. Allan, M. Wang, F. Wang, G. Wang, X. Zhao, Fragile X Proteins FMRP and FXR2P Control Synaptic GluA1 Expression and Neuronal Maturation via Distinct Mechanisms. *Cell Rep.* 11, 1651-1666 (2015).
- 207. A. W. Grossman, G. M. Aldridge, K. J. Lee, M. K. Zeman, C. S. Jun, H. S. Azam, T. Arii, K. Imoto, W. T. Greenough, et al., Developmental characteristics of dendritic spines in the dentate gyrus of Fmr1 knockout mice. *Brain Res.* 1355, 221-227 (2010).
- S. M. Till, L. S. Wijetunge, V. G. Seidel, E. Harlow, A. K. Wright, C. Bagni, A. Contractor, T. H. Gillingwater,
 P. C. Kind, Altered maturation of the primary somatosensory cortex in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 21, 2143-2156 (2012).
- 209. M. Tian, Y. Zeng, Y. Hu, X. Yuan, S. Liu, J. Li, P. Lu, Y. Sun, L. Gao, D. Fu, et al., 7, 8-Dihydroxyflavone induces synapse expression of AMPA GluA1 and ameliorates cognitive and spine abnormalities in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Neuropharmacology* **89**, 43-53 (2015).
- D. D. Krueger, E. K. Osterweil, S. P. Chen, L. D. Tye, M. F. Bear, Cognitive dysfunction and prefrontal synaptic abnormalities in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 108, 2587-2592 (2011).
- 211. C. A. Bostrom, N. M. Majaess, K. Morch, E. White, B. D. Eadie, B. R. Christie, Rescue of NMDAR-dependent synaptic plasticity in Fmr1 knock-out mice. *Cereb. Cortex* **25**, 271-279 (2015).
- 212. E. G. Harlow, S. M. Till, T. A. Russell, L. S. Wijetunge, P. Kind, A. Contractor, Critical period plasticity is disrupted in the barrel cortex of FMR1 knockout mice. *Neuron* **65**, 385-398 (2010).
- Y. Pilpel, A. Kolleker, S. Berberich, M. Ginger, A. Frick, E. Mientjes, B. A. Oostra, P. H. Seeburg, Synaptic ionotropic glutamate receptors and plasticity are developmentally altered in the CA1 field of Fmr1 knockout mice. J. Physiol. 587, 787-804 (2009).

- 214. G. Dolen, E. Osterweil, B. S. Rao, G. B. Smith, B. D. Auerbach, S. Chattarji, M. F. Bear, Correction of fragile X syndrome in mice. *Neuron* 56, 955-962 (2007).
- Y. M. Lu, Z. Jia, C. Janus, J. T. Henderson, R. Gerlai, J. M. Wojtowicz, J. C. Roder, Mice lacking metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 show impaired learning and reduced CA1 long-term potentiation (LTP) but normal CA3 LTP. J. Neurosci. 17, 5196-5205 (1997).
- F. Gasparini, K. Lingenhohl, N. Stoehr, P. J. Flor, M. Heinrich, I. Vranesic, M. Biollaz, H. Allgeier, R. Heckendorn, S. Urwyler, et al., 2-Methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)-pyridine (MPEP), a potent, selective and systemically active mGlu5 receptor antagonist. *Neuropharmacology* 38, 1493-1503 (1999).
- A. Pagano, D. Ruegg, S. Litschig, N. Stoehr, C. Stierlin, M. Heinrich, P. Floersheim, L. Prezeau, F. Carroll, J.
 P. Pin, et al., The non-competitive antagonists 2-methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)pyridine and 7hydroxyiminocyclopropan[b]chromen-1a-carboxylic acid ethyl ester interact with overlapping binding pockets in the transmembrane region of group I metabotropic glutamate receptors. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 33750-33758 (2000).
- 218. Q. J. Yan, M. Rammal, M. Tranfaglia, R. P. Bauchwitz, Suppression of two major Fragile X Syndrome mouse model phenotypes by the mGluR5 antagonist MPEP. *Neuropharmacology* **49**, 1053-1066 (2005).
- A. M. Thomas, N. Bui, J. R. Perkins, L. A. Yuva-Paylor, R. Paylor, Group I metabotropic glutamate receptor antagonists alter select behaviors in a mouse model for fragile X syndrome. *Psychopharmacology* 219, 47-58 (2012).
- 220. J. A. Burket, A. L. Herndon, E. E. Winebarger, L. F. Jacome, S. I. Deutsch, Complex effects of mGluR5 antagonism on sociability and stereotypic behaviors in mice: possible implications for the pharmacotherapy of autism spectrum disorders. *Brain Res. Bull.* **86**, 152-158 (2011).
- F. M. de Vrij, J. Levenga, H. C. van der Linde, S. K. Koekkoek, C. I. De Zeeuw, D. L. Nelson, B. A. Oostra, R. Willemsen, Rescue of behavioral phenotype and neuronal protrusion morphology in Fmr1 KO mice. *Neurobiol. Dis.* **31**, 127-132 (2008).
- 222. T. Su, H. X. Fan, T. Jiang, W. W. Sun, W. Y. Den, M. M. Gao, S. Q. Chen, Q. H. Zhao, Y. H. Yi, Early continuous inhibition of group 1 mGlu signaling partially rescues dendritic spine abnormalities in the Fmr1 knockout mouse model for fragile X syndrome. *Psychopharmacology* **215**, 291-300 (2011).
- E. Berry-Kravis, D. Hessl, S. Coffey, C. Hervey, A. Schneider, J. Yuhas, J. Hutchison, M. Snape, M. Tranfaglia,
 D. V. Nguyen, et al., A pilot open label, single dose trial of fenobam in adults with fragile X syndrome. J. Med. Genet. 46, 266-271 (2009).

- I. Gantois, A. S. Pop, C. E. de Esch, R. A. Buijsen, T. Pooters, B. Gomez-Mancilla, F. Gasparini, B. A. Oostra,
 R. D'Hooge, R. Willemsen, Chronic administration of AFQ056/Mavoglurant restores social behaviour in Fmr1 knockout mice. *Behav. Brain Res.* 239, 72-79 (2013).
- 225. S. H. Scharf, G. Jaeschke, J. G. Wettstein, L. Lindemann, Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 as drug target for Fragile X syndrome. *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.* **20**, 124-134 (2015).
- H. Wang, L. Ku, D. J. Osterhout, W. Li, A. Ahmadian, Z. Liang, Y. Feng, Developmentally-programmed FMRP expression in oligodendrocytes: a potential role of FMRP in regulating translation in oligodendroglia progenitors. *Hum. Mol.Genet.* **13**, 79-89 (2004).
- 227. R. Lu, H. Wang, Z. Liang, L. Ku, T. O'Donnell W, W. Li, S. T. Warren, Y. Feng, The fragile X protein controls microtubule-associated protein 1B translation and microtubule stability in brain neuron development. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **101**, 15201-15206 (2004).
- 228. S. A. Louis, R. L. Rietze, L. Deleyrolle, R. E. Wagey, T. E. Thomas, A. C. Eaves, B. A. Reynolds, Enumeration of neural stem and progenitor cells in the neural colony-forming cell assay. *Stem Cells* **26**, 988-996 (2008).
- V. Louhivuori, A. Vicario, M. Uutela, T. Rantamaki, L. M. Louhivuori, E. Castren, E. Tongiorgi, K. E. Akerman, M. L. Castren, BDNF and TrkB in neuronal differentiation of Fmr1-knockout mouse. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 41, 469-480 (2011).
- A. Bhattacharyya, E. McMillan, K. Wallace, T. C. Tubon, Jr., E. E. Capowski, C. N. Svendsen, Normal Neurogenesis but Abnormal Gene Expression in Human Fragile X Cortical Progenitor Cells. *Stem Cells Dev.* 17, 107-117 (2008).
- 231. M. Telias, M. Segal, D. Ben-Yosef, Neural differentiation of Fragile X human Embryonic Stem Cells reveals abnormal patterns of development despite successful neurogenesis. *Dev. Biol.* **374**, 32-45 (2013).
- 232. M. A. Callan, C. Cabernard, J. Heck, S. Luois, C. Q. Doe, D. C. Zarnescu, Fragile X protein controls neural stem cell proliferation in the Drosophila brain. *Hum. Mol.Genet.* **19**, 3068-3079 (2010).
- R. Saffary, Z. Xie, FMRP regulates the transition from radial glial cells to intermediate progenitor cells during neocortical development. *J. Neurosci.* **31**, 1427-1439 (2011).
- C. Zhao, W. Deng, F. H. Gage, Mechanisms and functional implications of adult neurogenesis. *Cell* 132, 645-660 (2008).
- M. J. Boland, K. L. Nazor, H. T. Tran, A. Szucs, C. L. Lynch, R. Paredes, F. Tassone, P. P. Sanna, R. J. Hagerman, J. F. Loring, Molecular analyses of neurogenic defects in a human pluripotent stem cell model of fragile X syndrome. *Brain* 140, 582-598 (2017).

- C. Y. Park, T. Halevy, D. R. Lee, J. J. Sung, J. S. Lee, O. Yanuka, N. Benvenisty, D. W. Kim, Reversion of FMR1 Methylation and Silencing by Editing the Triplet Repeats in Fragile X iPSC-Derived Neurons. *Cell. Rep.* 13, 234-241 (2015).
- N. Xie, H. Gong, J. A. Suhl, P. Chopra, T. Wang, S. T. Warren, Reactivation of FMR1 by CRISPR/Cas9-Mediated Deletion of the Expanded CGG-Repeat of the Fragile X Chromosome. *PloS One* **11**, e0165499 (2016).
- M. Li, H. Zhao, G. E. Ananiev, M. T. Musser, K. H. Ness, D. L. Maglaque, K. Saha, A. Bhattacharyya, X. Zhao, Establishment of Reporter Lines for Detecting Fragile X Mental Retardation (FMR1) Gene Reactivation in Human Neural Cells. *Stem Cells* 35, 158-169 (2017).
- 239. O. Bar-Nur, I. Caspi, N. Benvenisty, Molecular analysis of FMR1 reactivation in fragile-X induced pluripotent stem cells and their neuronal derivatives. *J. Mol. Cell Biol.* **4**, 180-183 (2012).
- 240. S. D. Sheridan, K. M. Theriault, S. A. Reis, F. Zhou, J. M. Madison, L. Daheron, J. F. Loring, S. J. Haggarty, Epigenetic characterization of the FMR1 gene and aberrant neurodevelopment in human induced pluripotent stem cell models of fragile X syndrome. *PloS One* 6, e26203 (2011).
- R. S. Alisch, T. Wang, P. Chopra, J. Visootsak, K. N. Conneely, S. T. Warren, Genome-wide analysis validates aberrant methylation in fragile X syndrome is specific to the FMR1 locus. *BMC Med. Genet.* 14, 18 (2013).
- M. E. Doers, M. T. Musser, R. Nichol, E. R. Berndt, M. Baker, T. M. Gomez, S. C. Zhang, L. Abbeduto, A. Bhattacharyya, iPSC-derived forebrain neurons from FXS individuals show defects in initial neurite outgrowth. *Stem Cells Dev.* 23, 1777-1787 (2014).
- C. E. de Esch, M. Ghazvini, F. Loos, N. Schelling-Kazaryan, W. Widagdo, S. T. Munshi, E. van der Wal, H. Douben, N. Gunhanlar, S. A. Kushner, et al., Epigenetic characterization of the FMR1 promoter in induced pluripotent stem cells from human fibroblasts carrying an unmethylated full mutation. *Stem Cell Reports* 3, 548-555 (2014).
- 244. T. Halevy, C. Czech, N. Benvenisty, Molecular mechanisms regulating the defects in fragile X syndrome neurons derived from human pluripotent stem cells. *Stem Cell Reports* **4**, 37-46 (2015).
- 245. D. Kumari, M. Swaroop, N. Southall, W. Huang, W. Zheng, K. Usdin, High-Throughput Screening to Identify Compounds That Increase Fragile X Mental Retardation Protein Expression in Neural Stem Cells Differentiated From Fragile X Syndrome Patient-Derived Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* **4**, 800-808 (2015).
- 246. M. Kaufmann, A. Schuffenhauer, I. Fruh, J. Klein, A. Thiemeyer, P. Rigo, B. Gomez-Mancilla, V. Heidinger-Millot, T. Bouwmeester, U. Schopfer, et al., High-Throughput Screening Using iPSC-Derived Neuronal

Progenitors to Identify Compounds Counteracting Epigenetic Gene Silencing in Fragile X Syndrome. J. Biomol. Screen **20**, 1101-1111 (2015).

- P. Lu, X. Chen, Y. Feng, Q. Zeng, C. Jiang, X. Zhu, G. Fan, Z. Xue, Integrated transcriptome analysis of human iPS cells derived from a fragile X syndrome patient during neuronal differentiation. *Sci. China Life Sci.* 59, 1093-1105 (2016).
- U. Brykczynska, E. Pecho-Vrieseling, A. Thiemeyer, J. Klein, I. Fruh, T. Doll, C. Manneville, S. Fuchs, M. Iazeolla, M. Beibel, et al., CGG Repeat-Induced FMR1 Silencing Depends on the Expansion Size in Human iPSCs and Neurons Carrying Unmethylated Full Mutations. *Stem Cell Reports* 7, 1059-1071 (2016).
- V. S. Achuta, H. Grym, N. Putkonen, V. Louhivuori, V. Karkkainen, J. Koistinaho, L. Roybon, M. L. Castren, Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 responses dictate differentiation of neural progenitors to NMDAresponsive cells in fragile X syndrome. *Dev. Neurobiol.* 77, 438-453 (2017).
- D. L. Clarke, C. B. Johansson, J. Wilbertz, B. Veress, E. Nilsson, H. Karlstrom, U. Lendahl, J. Frisen, Generalized potential of adult neural stem cells. *Science* 288, 1660-1663 (2000).
- 251. K. J. Livak, T. D. Schmittgen, Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods* **25**, 402-408 (2001).
- S. Jacobs, C. Cheng, L. C. Doering, Probing astrocyte function in fragile X syndrome. *Results Probl. Cell Differ.* 54, 15-31 (2012).
- R. F. Hevner, R. D. Hodge, R. A. Daza, C. Englund, Transcription factors in glutamatergic neurogenesis: conserved programs in neocortex, cerebellum, and adult hippocampus. *Neurosci. Res.* 55, 223-233 (2006).
- 254. N. I. Kiskin, O. A. Krishtal, A. Tsyndrenko, Excitatory amino acid receptors in hippocampal neurons: kainate fails to desensitize them. *Neurosci. Lett.* **63**, 225-230 (1986).
- A. V. Paternain, M. Morales, J. Lerma, Selective antagonism of AMPA receptors unmasks kainate receptor-mediated responses in hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* 14, 185-189 (1995).
- D. Bowie, M. L. Mayer, Inward rectification of both AMPA and kainate subtype glutamate receptors generated by polyamine-mediated ion channel block. *Neuron* 15, 453-462 (1995).
- S. D. Donevan, M. A. Rogawski, Intracellular polyamines mediate inward rectification of Ca(2+)permeable alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 92, 9298-9302 (1995).
- K. Zhang, Q. Wang, X. Jing, Y. Zhao, H. Jiang, J. Du, S. Yu, M. Zhao, miR-181a is a negative regulator of GRIA2 in methamphetamine-use disorder. *Sci. Rep.* 6, 35691 (2016).

- N. J. Beveridge, P. A. Tooney, A. P. Carroll, E. Gardiner, N. Bowden, R. J. Scott, N. Tran, I. Dedova, M. J. Cairns, Dysregulation of miRNA 181b in the temporal cortex in schizophrenia. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 17, 1156-1168 (2008).
- R. Saba, P. H. Storchel, A. Aksoy-Aksel, F. Kepura, G. Lippi, T. D. Plant, G. M. Schratt, Dopamine-regulated microRNA MiR-181a controls GluA2 surface expression in hippocampal neurons. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 32, 619-632 (2012).
- R. J. Wenthold, R. S. Petralia, J. Blahos, II, A. S. Niedzielski, Evidence for multiple AMPA receptor complexes in hippocampal CA1/CA2 neurons. J. Neurosci. 16, 1982-1989 (1996).
- W. Lu, Y. Shi, A. C. Jackson, K. Bjorgan, M. J. During, R. Sprengel, P. H. Seeburg, R. A. Nicoll, Subunit composition of synaptic AMPA receptors revealed by a single-cell genetic approach. *Neuron* 62, 254-268 (2009).
- A. Contractor, V. A. Klyachko, C. Portera-Cailliau, Altered Neuronal and Circuit Excitability in Fragile X Syndrome. *Neuron* 87, 699-715 (2015).
- R. J. Hagerman, E. Berry-Kravis, H. C. Hazlett, D. B. Bailey, Jr., H. Moine, R. F. Kooy, F. Tassone, I. Gantois,
 N. Sonenberg, J. L. Mandel, et al., Fragile X syndrome. *Nat. Rev. Dis. Primers* 3, 17065 (2017).
- 265. B. E. LaMonica, J. H. Lui, D. V. Hansen, A. R. Kriegstein, Mitotic spindle orientation predicts outer radial glial cell generation in human neocortex. *Nat. Commun.* **4**, 1665 (2013).
- B. Ostrem, E. Di Lullo, A. Kriegstein, oRGs and mitotic somal translocation a role in development and disease. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 42, 61-67 (2017).
- I. H. Smart, Proliferative characteristics of the ependymal layer during the early development of the mouse neocortex: a pilot study based on recording the number, location and plane of cleavage of mitotic figures. J. Anat. 116, 67-91 (1973).
- 268. A. Chenn, S. K. McConnell, Cleavage orientation and the asymmetric inheritance of Notch1 immunoreactivity in mammalian neurogenesis. *Cell* **82**, 631-641 (1995).
- B. Howard, Y. Chen, N. Zecevic, Cortical progenitor cells in the developing human telencephalon. *Glia* 53, 57-66 (2006).
- S. J. Jeon, J. W. Kim, K. C. Kim, S. M. Han, H. S. Go, J. E. Seo, C. S. Choi, J. H. Ryu, C. Y. Shin, M. R. Song, Translational regulation of NeuroD1 expression by FMRP: involvement in glutamatergic neuronal differentiation of cultured rat primary neural progenitor cells. *Cell Mol. Neurobiol.* 34, 297-305 (2014).
- L. N. Borodinsky, C. M. Root, J. A. Cronin, S. B. Sann, X. Gu, N. C. Spitzer, Activity-dependent homeostatic specification of transmitter expression in embryonic neurons. *Nature* 429, 523-530 (2004).

- G. Wang, J. Gilbert, H. Y. Man, AMPA receptor trafficking in homeostatic synaptic plasticity: functional molecules and signaling cascades. *Neural Plast.* 2012, 825364 (2012).
- 273. R. C. Malenka, M. F. Bear, LTP and LTD: an embarrassment of riches. Neuron 44, 5-21 (2004).
- R. Malinow, R. C. Malenka, AMPA receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. *Ann. Rev. Neurosci.* 25, 103-126 (2002).
- G. R. Cheng, X. Y. Li, Y. D. Xiang, D. Liu, S. M. McClintock, Y. Zeng, The implication of AMPA receptor in synaptic plasticity impairment and intellectual disability in fragile X syndrome. *Physiol. Res.* 66, 715-727 (2017).
- M. Hollmann, M. Hartley, S. Heinemann, Ca2+ permeability of KA-AMPA--gated glutamate receptor channels depends on subunit composition. *Science* 252, 851-853 (1991).
- S. J. Liu, R. S. Zukin, Ca2+-permeable AMPA receptors in synaptic plasticity and neuronal death. *Trends Neurosci.* 30, 126-134 (2007).
- 278. S. S. Kumar, A. Bacci, V. Kharazia, J. R. Huguenard, A developmental switch of AMPA receptor subunits in neocortical pyramidal neurons. *J. Neurosci.* **22**, 3005-3015 (2002).
- T. Lalanne, J. Oyrer, A. Mancino, E. Gregor, A. Chung, L. Huynh, S. Burwell, J. Maheux, M. Farrant, P. J. Sjostrom, Synapse-specific expression of calcium-permeable AMPA receptors in neocortical layer 5. *J. Physiol.* 594, 837-861 (2016).
- K. M. Noh, J. Y. Hwang, A. Follenzi, R. Athanasiadou, T. Miyawaki, J. M. Greally, M. V. Bennett, R. S. Zukin, Repressor element-1 silencing transcription factor (REST)-dependent epigenetic remodeling is critical to ischemia-induced neuronal death. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 109, E962-971 (2012).
- R. S. Muddashetty, V. C. Nalavadi, C. Gross, X. Yao, L. Xing, O. Laur, S. T. Warren, G. J. Bassell, Reversible inhibition of PSD-95 mRNA translation by miR-125a, FMRP phosphorylation, and mGluR signaling. *Mol. Cell* 42, 673-688 (2011).
- T. M. Gomez, N. C. Spitzer, In vivo regulation of axon extension and pathfinding by growth-cone calcium transients. *Nature* **397**, 350-355 (1999).
- J. Q. Zheng, M. M. Poo, Calcium signaling in neuronal motility. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 23, 375-404 (2007).
- 284. N. C. Spitzer, Electrical activity in early neuronal development. Nature 444, 707-712 (2006).
- 285. S. R. Bolsover, Calcium signalling in growth cone migration. *Cell Calcium* **37**, 395-402 (2005).
- P. Uhlen, N. Fritz, E. Smedler, S. Malmersjo, S. Kanatani, Calcium signaling in neocortical development. *Dev. Neurobiol.* **75**, 360-368 (2015).

- M. Telias, L. Kuznitsov-Yanovsky, M. Segal, D. Ben-Yosef, Functional Deficiencies in Fragile X Neurons Derived from Human Embryonic Stem Cells. J. Neurosci. 35, 15295-15306 (2015).
- 288. H. Komuro, P. Rakic, Intracellular Ca2+ fluctuations modulate the rate of neuronal migration. *Neuron* 17, 275-285 (1996).
- H. Komuro, P. Rakic, Orchestration of neuronal migration by activity of ion channels, neurotransmitter receptors, and intracellular Ca2+ fluctuations. *J. Neurobiol.* 37, 110-130 (1998).
- N. Kalderon, K. Ahonen, S. Fedoroff, Developmental transition in plasticity properties of differentiating astrocytes: age-related biochemical profile of plasminogen activators in astroglial cultures. *Glia* 3, 413-426 (1990).
- 291. N. W. Seeds, B. L. Williams, P. C. Bickford, Tissue plasminogen activator induction in Purkinje neurons after cerebellar motor learning. *Science* **270**, 1992-1994 (1995).
- 292. N. W. Seeds, M. E. Basham, S. P. Haffke, Neuronal migration is retarded in mice lacking the tissue plasminogen activator gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **96**, 14118-14123 (1999).
- S. H. Lee, H. M. Ko, K. J. Kwon, J. Lee, S. H. Han, D. W. Han, J. H. Cheong, J. H. Ryu, C. Y. Shin, tPA regulates neurite outgrowth by phosphorylation of LRP5/6 in neural progenitor cells. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 49, 199-215 (2014).
- 294. Z. Qian, M. E. Gilbert, M. A. Colicos, E. R. Kandel, D. Kuhl, Tissue-plasminogen activator is induced as an immediate-early gene during seizure, kindling and long-term potentiation. *Nature* **361**, 453-457 (1993).
- B. Wang, L. Yin, X. Zou, M. Ye, Y. Liu, T. He, S. Deng, Y. Jiang, R. Zheng, Y. Wang, et al., A Subtype of Inhibitory Interneuron with Intrinsic Persistent Activity in Human and Monkey Neocortex. *Cell Rep.* 10, 1450-1458 (2015).
- E. Berry-Kravis, V. Des Portes, R. Hagerman, S. Jacquemont, P. Charles, J. Visootsak, M. Brinkman, K. Rerat, B. Koumaras, L. Zhu, et al., Mavoglurant in fragile X syndrome: Results of two randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trials. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 8, 321ra325 (2016).